**Public Accounts Committee** 

# Report on the Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners

Together with the Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report and the Minutes of Evidence

Ordered by The Public Accounts Committee to be printed 18 April 2012 Report: NIA 45/11-15 Public Accounts Committee

# REPORT EMBARGOED UNTIL 00:01 am on 16 May 2012

# Membership and Powers

The Public Accounts Committee is a Standing Committee established in accordance with Standing Orders under Section 60(3) of the Northern Ireland Act 1998. It is the statutory function of the Public Accounts Committee to consider the accounts, and reports on accounts laid before the Assembly.

The Public Accounts Committee is appointed under Assembly Standing Order No. 56 of the Standing Orders for the Northern Ireland Assembly. It has the power to send for persons, papers and records and to report from time to time. Neither the Chairperson nor Deputy Chairperson of the Committee shall be a member of the same political party as the Minister of Finance and Personnel or of any junior Minister appointed to the Department of Finance and Personnel.

The Committee has 11 members including a Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson and a quorum of 5.

The membership of the Committee since 23 May 2011 has been as follows:

Mr Paul Maskey (Chairperson) Mr Joe Byrne (Deputy Chairperson) Mr Sydney Anderson Mr Michael Copeland Mr John Dallat Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Ross Hussey Mr Mitchel McLaughlin Mr Adrian McQuillan<sup>1</sup> Mr Conor Murphy<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> With effect from 24 October 2011 Mr Adrian McQuillan replaced Mr Paul Frew

<sup>2</sup> With effect from 23 January 2012 Mr Conor Murphy replaced Ms Jennifer McCann

# Table of Contents

List of abbreviations used in the Report	iv
Report Executive Summary	1
Summary of Recommendations	3
Introduction	5
Measuring Poverty and the Uptake of Benefits Among Pensioners	6
Actions to Promote Benefit Uptake	8
Maximising Uptake by Improving Joined-up Working Arrangements	10
Simplifying Access and Improving Administration	12
Appendix 1	
Minutes of Proceedings	17
Appendix 2	
Minutes of Evidence	25
Appendix 3	
Correspondence	61
Appendix 4	
List of Witnesses	77
Appendix 5	
Other Papers Submitted to the Committee but not Published in the Report	81
ease rapite custilities to the committee sucher abilities and in the Report	01

# List of Abbreviations used in the Report

C&AG	Comptroller and Auditor General
The Committee	Public Accounts Committee
DFP	Department of Finance and Personnel
DSD	Department for Social Development
HMRC	Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs
LPS	Land and Property Services
NIHE	Northern Ireland Housing Executive
SSA	Social Security Agency

# **Executive Summary**

- 1. Almost 20 per cent of Northern Ireland's 307,000 pensioners are classified as living in poverty. Given that social security benefits make up a significant proportion of pensioners' income, ensuring that they receive their full entitlement to these benefits can help reduce pensioner poverty.
- 2. Paying vulnerable pensioners their full entitlement is not only morally right, but also represents an opportunity to inject a significant amount of additional funding into the local economy. Benefit expenditure does not come out of the Assembly's Block grant from Westminster and does not therefore compromise the delivery of other public services.
- 3. The Department for Social Development (DSD) does not currently have an accurate estimate of the size of the benefit uptake gap. The Committee is nevertheless extremely concerned that the last published figures suggested that unclaimed pensioner benefit was most likely to be in the region of £100 million a year for pension credit and housing benefit alone. This is quite simply unacceptable.
- 4. In the absence of sound estimates, the overall impact of actions to improve uptake cannot be measured. The proposed research work in this area must be initiated with immediate effect to produce robust uptake estimates, inform uptake strategy and set challenging targets for the future.
- 5. DSD has run a series of annual benefit uptake programmes since 2005. Over this period, the department has targeted over 112,000 pensioners and generated an additional £23 million of benefits for successful claimants. For each pound spent on the programme, £11 in increased benefits has been claimed. Although the Social Security Agency (SSA) stated that its targeting is intelligence-led, the response and conversion rates remain too low. Less than half of all those contacted replied and, in total, only 9 per cent were successful in obtaining additional benefits.
- 6. The Committee attaches considerable importance to providing a comprehensive outreach service for the more vulnerable in our society, and there are potentially significant benefits to be derived from the community work undertaken by outreach officers. However the Committee is concerned that the level of resources committed to outreach activities may not be sufficient to promote uptake by pensioners. The Committee is also concerned that the outreach work of the three benefit-paying agencies is not sufficiently joined up and may not complement the activities of the voluntary and community sectors at grassroots level.
- 7. DSD highlighted two recent initiatives, its 'Make the Call' campaign and a new Innovation Fund, as examples of other uptake activities. These new initiatives are welcomed, and it will be important to track how they perform in order to draw out lessons for future uptake promotional activities.
- 8. Legislation permits the sharing of data for the purposes of identifying eligibility and improving uptake. However, data sharing to date appears to have been piecemeal in nature and lacking in a coherent vision and strategy. In the Committee's view, progress in undertaking data-sharing exercises has been unnecessarily slow, and there is more to be done in this area to reap the full benefits. The proposed introduction of legislative powers to share the personal data held by Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) carries huge potential, and priority must be given to progressing work in this area.
- 9. Pensioners can be reluctant to engage with government agencies and share their personal circumstances with officials. Conversely, the independent advice sector and other voluntary and community bodies are perceived as trusted third parties. Benefit-paying agencies must work proactively and strategically with the voluntary and community sectors as a means of targeting hard-to-reach groups.

- 10. The current benefit system is complicated, and many pensioners do not understand the way in which the system works. This reinforces the need to continue with efforts to simplify the benefit regime. None of the benefit-paying agencies can afford to be complacent on this matter.
- 11. Benefit-paying agencies must offer assurance to the public that benefit entitlement will be calculated correctly first time. The Committee is therefore concerned at the extent of historical underpayments and overpayments. There needs to be basic improvements in administration to remedy these errors.
- 12. Under welfare reform, there will be a move towards a single-tier pension and Housing Benefit will be abolished. It is therefore important that the benefit-paying agencies rigorously appraise the potential implications of these changes on uptake rates. It is also important that the process of welfare reform is used to review how benefits are delivered citizens have a right to expect a one-stop shop, and welfare reform provides an opportunity to deliver this.

# Summary of Recommendations

### **Recommendation 1**

1. By helping to maximise benefit uptake among pensioners, benefit-paying agencies can make a considerable contribution to reducing poverty levels in Northern Ireland. The Committee recommends that the benefit-paying agencies formally adopt improving uptake as a core business objective to ensure they are actively contributing to the cross-departmental challenge of combating poverty.

### **Recommendation 2**

2. There are no robust estimates of benefit uptake rates for pensioners. The Committee recommends that research work in this area is initiated with immediate effect and is used to produce robust uptake estimates, inform uptake strategy and set challenging targets for the future. The Committee wishes to be informed of the results of the planned research work involving the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and the Institute for Social and Economic Research when it is completed.

### **Recommendation 3**

3. The low conversion rates for the Benefit Uptake Programme are disappointing. Of most concern is the fact that the majority of those contacted through these targeted campaigns do not respond. The Committee recommends that DSD develops a range of options to follow up initial contacts in order to improve the overall response and conversion rates.

### **Recommendation 4**

4. The Committee believes that the impact of outreach activities could be increased if benefitpaying agencies consolidated their efforts and worked more closely with the voluntary and community sectors to promote pensioner uptake. The Committee recommends that the benefitpaying agencies jointly review their arrangements in this area and develop proposals to co-ordinate working practices and more fully engage with the voluntary and community sectors.

### Recommendation 5

5. The Innovation Fund and the 'Make the Call' campaign represent two new initiatives aimed at promoting higher levels of uptake and it will be important to compare their success with the Benefit Uptake Programme. The Committee recommends that these are fully evaluated with a view to mainstreaming successful elements of the respective initiatives.

### Recommendation 6

6. Data-sharing across Government bodies is an effective means of identifying individuals with unclaimed benefit entitlement, but this work needs to be done more strategically. The Committee recommends that the benefit-paying agencies develop a joint Data-Sharing Strategy, supported by a detailed Action Plan. In addition, the Committee recommends that each agency measures and reports the extent to which the revised arrangements actually improve uptake.

### Recommendation 7

7. The proposed data-sharing arrangements with HMRC are welcomed. The Committee recommends that DSD agrees a clear timetable and makes arrangements for introducing the necessary legislation, developing protocols and undertaking data sharing exercises with HMRC.

### Recommendation 8

- 8. Working proactively and strategically with the voluntary and community sectors can help benefit-paying agencies to target vulnerable clients and overcome some barriers to pensioner uptake. The Committee recommends that the Department:
  - engages and consults with the sectors earlier in the policy development process; and
  - works in partnership to ensure that outreach activities are co-ordinated between the respective sectors to ensure they better reach the relevant target groups.

### Recommendation 9

9. Ongoing work to simplify application processes is welcome. However, the system remains complex. Given advances in technology, the Committee recommends that benefit-paying agencies develop a fully integrated, web-based access tool for all benefits.

### Recommendation 10

10. Given the vulnerability of this client group, the Committee recommends that benefitpaying agencies use discretion and adopt a sensitive approach in communicating news to pensioners of overpayments; and explain in full to pensioners all available repayment options.

### Recommendation 11

11. Welfare Reform provides an opportunity to review the administration and delivery of benefits. The Committee recommends that DSD and DFP consider whether a single agency can be tasked with providing a joined-up benefits service.

# Introduction

- 1. The Public Accounts Committee (the Committee) met on 7 March 2012 to consider the Comptroller and Auditor General's Report 'Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners'. The main witnesses were:
  - Mr Will Haire, Accounting Officer, Department for Social Development;
  - Mr Tommy O'Reilly, Chief Executive, Social Security Agency;
  - Mr Brian Doherty, Director, Social Security Agency;
  - Mr John Wilkinson, Chief Executive, Land and Property Services;
  - Dr John McPeake, Chief Executive, Northern Ireland Housing Executive;
  - Mr Kieran Donnelly, Comptroller and Auditor General; and
  - Ms Fiona Hamill, Treasury Officer of Accounts.
- 2. People of pensionable age represent a significant and growing share of the Northern Ireland population. While pensioners rely on a number of different sources for their income, they are highly dependent on benefits. However, almost 20 per cent of Northern Ireland's pensioners are classified as living in poverty. Therefore maximising income by ensuring pensioners access the full range of benefits to which they are entitled can make a crucial difference to the lives of older people.
- 3. The main public sector agencies and bodies involved in administering benefits to pensioners are the Department for Social Development (DSD), through the Social Security Agency (SSA) and Northern Ireland Housing Executive (NIHE); and the Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP) through its Land & Property Services (LPS) agency.
- 4. In taking evidence, the Committee focused on:
  - measuring poverty and the uptake of benefits among pensioners;
  - actions to promote benefit uptake;
  - maximising uptake by improving joined-up working arrangements; and
  - simplifying access to, and administration of, benefits.

# Measuring Poverty and the Uptake of Benefits Among Pensioners

### Reducing poverty levels

- 5. People of state pension age represent a significant and growing group within society. At 30 June 2010, 17 per cent (307,000) of the Northern Ireland population were pensioners. However around 1 in 5 lives in poverty and poverty rates among pensioners are higher locally than in England, Scotland and Wales. Specific groups of pensioners, including those living in disadvantaged areas and those who are over 75 years of age (particularly single females and/or widows without occupational pensions) are especially vulnerable.
- 6. Over half of pensioners' income comes from benefits. Maximising pensioners' uptake of those benefits to which they are entitled can therefore help to increase income and contribute towards reduced poverty. However, pensioners do not always claim their full benefit entitlement. There are many barriers which inhibit benefit uptake among pensioners. These include perceptions of non-eligibility; concern that receipt of additional benefit will impact on eligibility for another benefit; and the belief of many non-claimants that they have sufficient funds to live on.
- 7. The SSA told the Committee that it has no statutory duty to promote uptake. However, failing to pay vulnerable people in society their benefit entitlement represents a major service delivery problem. The Committee is strongly of the view that all the agencies have a duty to recognise their role in this area. The promotion of uptake must be addressed in an informed manner and agencies must work together to deliver a coherent, joined-up strategy.
- 8. Paying vulnerable pensioners their full entitlement is not only morally right, but also represents an opportunity to inject a significant amount of additional funding into the local economy. Benefit expenditure does not come out of the Assembly's Block grant from Westminster, and increasing such expenditure does not therefore compromise the delivery of other public services. In today's difficult economic climate, the promotion of uptake in effect represents an "invest-to-save" initiative which can in turn help to sustain jobs and grow the economy.

#### Recommendation 1

9. By helping to maximise benefit uptake among pensioners, benefit-paying agencies can make a considerable contribution to reducing poverty levels in Northern Ireland. The Committee recommends that the benefit-paying agencies formally adopt improving uptake as a core business objective to ensure they are actively contributing to the cross-departmental challenge of combating poverty.

### Estimating the level of uptake

10. In the past, DSD relied on information from the Family Resources Survey to produce uptake estimates for two of the largest benefits — State Pension Credit and Housing Benefit. However these estimates were not robust for a number of reasons — they were subject to large margins of error, did not permit reliable regional analysis and lacked sufficient detail to accurately identify those who would qualify for benefit. DSD therefore no longer uses the Family Resources Survey to estimate uptake rates and, as a result, it candidly acknowledged that it does not currently have an accurate estimate of the size of the benefit uptake gap.

- 11. While the estimates are limited and now out of date, the Committee is nevertheless extremely concerned that the last published figures suggested that unclaimed pensioner benefit was most likely to be in the region of £100 million a year for pension credit and housing benefit alone1. This is quite simply unacceptable.
- 12. DSD is about to initiate research work to determine if there are alternative ways to estimate uptake. This proposed research work, involving the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and the Economic Research Institute, is welcome. However it has taken too long to move on this issue, and a detailed research programme should have been developed and implemented much sooner. DSD must do more to develop firm evidence upon which to base its policy and develop strategies. In the absence of sound estimates, the extent of under-claiming is not known and the impact of actions to improve uptake cannot be measured.

#### **Recommendation 2**

13. There are no robust estimates of benefit uptake rates for pensioners. The Committee recommends that research work in this area is initiated with immediate effect and is used to produce robust uptake estimates, inform uptake strategy and set challenging targets for the future. The Committee wishes to be informed of the results of the planned research work involving the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and the Institute for Social and Economic Research when it is completed.

1

The Family Resources Survey figures for 2004-06 estimated the value of unclaimed benefits for Pension Credit and Housing Benefit to be in the range of  $\pounds$ 31 million to  $\pounds$ 197 million.

# Actions to Promote Benefit Uptake

14. DSD outlined its four main approaches to promoting benefit uptake. These are its Benefit Uptake Programme; outreach activities; the 'Make the Call' campaign; and the newly introduced Innovation Fund. NIHE and LPS undertake their own, additional uptake activities. In the Committee's view, however, there is scope for a more co-ordinated, longer term and strategic approach to this disparate range of activity.

### The Benefit Uptake Programme

- 15. The Department's Benefit Uptake Programme has been running as a series of annual exercises since 2005. Outcomes vary from year to year but tend to result in additional benefit payments for between six to ten per cent of those targeted. Since 2005, the department has targeted over 112,000 pensioners and generated an additional £23 million of benefits for successful claimants. The Department indicated that for each pound spent on the programme, £11 in increased benefits was claimed. This reinforces the Committee's view that there is a strong "invest-to-save" case to be made for this type of activity.
- 16. The payment of additional benefits as a result of these uptake programmes is welcome, but there is scope for improvement. Although SSA stated that its targeting is intelligence-led, the response and conversion rates remain too low. Less than half of all those contacted replied and, in total, only nine per cent were successful in obtaining additional benefits. This is not a sufficiently ambitious baseline upon which to claim success and suggests that the targeting methodologies may not be appropriate.

#### **Recommendation 3**

17. The low conversion rates for the Benefit Uptake Programme are disappointing. Of most concern is the fact that the majority of those contacted through these targeted campaigns do not respond. The Committee recommends that DSD develops a range of options to follow up initial contacts in order to improve the overall response and conversion rates.

## Consolidating outreach activity

- 18. Each of the benefit-paying agencies undertakes a range of outreach activities. Outreach officers are involved in organising events to raise awareness; distributing leaflets; and, perhaps most importantly, offering benefit advice and assistance to the public. The Committee attaches considerable importance to providing a comprehensive outreach service for the more vulnerable in our society. There are potentially significant benefits to be derived from the community work undertaken by outreach officers.
- 19. The SSA told us that its 20 outreach officers currently have the capacity to reach 6,500 people each year. However, around 20 per cent of home visits are with non-pensioners, and not all of the activity is aimed exclusively at promoting uptake. The Committee is therefore concerned that the level of resources committed to outreach activities may not be sufficient. There is a risk that their potential to generate uptake is diluted when these officers are allocated additional responsibilities. The Committee is also concerned that the outreach work of the three benefit-paying agencies is not sufficiently joined up and may not fully complement the activities of the voluntary and community sectors at grassroots level.

#### **Recommendation 4**

20. The Committee believes that the impact of outreach activities could be increased if benefitpaying agencies consolidated their efforts and worked more closely with the voluntary and community sectors to promote pensioner uptake. The Committee recommends that the benefit-paying agencies jointly review their arrangements in this area and develop proposals to co-ordinate working practices and more fully engage with the voluntary and community sectors.

### New Uptake Initiatives

- 21. Given the relatively poor conversion rates achieved by the Benefit Uptake Programme, the Committee believes that other options need to be explored to determine whether benefit-paying agencies can generate higher levels of response and conversion, particularly among harder-to-reach groups. DSD highlighted two recent initiatives, its 'Make the Call' campaign and a new Innovation Fund, as examples of other uptake activities.
- 22. DSD indicated that as a result of the 'Make the Call' campaign, around 13,000 people had contacted the SSA to date and this had resulted in a conversion rate of around 13%. Although this is a higher rate than for the Benefit Uptake Programme, the Committee believes many pensioners are still not responding and accessing their full benefit entitlements. The Committee has concerns about the extent to which campaigns of this nature rely mainly on telephone contact. Older people have an understandable reluctance to conduct personal business over the telephone, and the challenge for benefit-paying bodies is to explore the opportunities offered by alternative communication channels.
- 23. DSD has also recently launched an Innovation Fund which encourages voluntary and community sector bodies to put forward ideas on how to improve benefit uptake. Seven pilot projects are being funded to promote innovative ways of increasing uptake. This is welcomed, and it will be important to track how these projects perform in order to draw out lessons for future uptake promotional activities. It should be noted, however, that most of these projects are not targeted specifically at pensioners, therefore further pilot work specific to this target group may be necessary.

#### **Recommendation 5**

24. The Innovation Fund and the 'Make the Call' campaign represent two new initiatives aimed at promoting higher levels of uptake, and it will be important to compare their success with the Benefit Uptake Programme. The Committee recommends that these are fully evaluated with a view to mainstreaming successful elements of the respective initiatives.

# Maximising Uptake by Improving Joined-up Working Arrangements

### Sharing data between benefit-paying agencies

- 25. Legislation permits the sharing of data for the purposes of identifying benefit eligibility and improving uptake. However, there have been delays in agreeing protocols for data-sharing across Government departments and it has taken a long time to undertake actual data-sharing exercises.
- 26. Although each of the agencies suggested that their data-sharing activities had yielded positive results, data-sharing to date appears to have been piecemeal in nature, consisting of a series of individual exercises rather than being underpinned by a coherent vision and strategy. In the Committee's view, progress in undertaking data-sharing exercises has been unnecessarily slow and there is more to be done in this area to reap the full benefits.

#### **Recommendation 6**

- 27. Data-sharing across Government bodies is an effective means of identifying individuals with unclaimed benefit entitlement, but this work needs to be done more strategically. The Committee recommends that the benefit-paying agencies develop a joint Data-Sharing Strategy, supported by a detailed Action Plan. In addition, the Committee recommends that each agency measures and reports the extent to which the revised arrangements actually improve uptake.
- 28. The proposed introduction of legislative powers to share the personal data held by Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) carries huge potential. This represents a major opportunity to access the comprehensive financial information necessary to identify benefit entitlement and non-uptake. Priority must be given to progressing work in this area, and DSD must be proactive in driving this initiative forward.

#### **Recommendation 7**

29. The proposed data-sharing arrangements with HMRC are welcomed. The Committee recommends that DSD agrees a clear timetable and makes arrangements for introducing the necessary legislation, developing protocols and undertaking data-sharing exercises with HMRC.

### Working more closely with the Independent Advisory Sector

- 30. Pensioners can be reluctant to engage with government agencies and share their personal circumstances with officials. Conversely, the independent advice sector and other voluntary and community bodies are perceived as trusted third parties. The Department recognises this and accepts that there is scope to work more closely with the sector. For example, it acknowledged the value of the involvement of the Older People's Commissioner and organisations such as Age NI to act as advocates and to promote the interest of older people. This positive mindset is welcomed by the Committee.
- 31. The voluntary and community sectors represent a key stakeholder in relation to benefit uptake. The sectors can advocate on behalf of vulnerable sections of society, can champion the cause of specific groups and often have connections into local communities which enable them to support hard-to-reach target groups.

#### **Recommendation 8**

32. Working proactively and strategically with the voluntary and community sectors can help benefit-paying agencies to target vulnerable clients and overcome some barriers to pensioner uptake. The Committee recommends that the Department:

- engages and consults with the sectors earlier in the policy development process; and
- works in partnership to ensure that outreach activities are co-ordinated between the respective sectors to ensure they better reach the relevant target groups.

# Simplifying Access and Improving Administration

### Simplifying access to benefits

- 33. The current benefit system is complicated. Identifying those benefits to which you are entitled and accessing them can be a daunting and invasive process. Many pensioners do not understand the way in which the system works, and its complexity is clearly a contributing factor to poor levels of uptake among this group.
- 34. The Committee is strongly of the view that all efforts must be made to ease the application process. The case studies in the Comptroller and Auditor General's report give an indication of the complexity of the system and of the financial impact that non-uptake can have on the lives of individuals. This reinforces the need to continue with efforts to simplify the benefit regime. None of the benefit-paying agencies can afford to be complacent on this matter.
- 35. SSA outlined how the improved use of technology has helped to streamline and join up application processes for some pensioner benefits. The Agency is now able to use telephony to populate forms for Pension Credit and Housing Benefit without the need for a customer signature and to transfer the caller directly to NIHE or LPS without the need for the same information to be requested twice.

#### **Recommendation 9**

36. **Ongoing work to simplify application processes is welcome. However, the system remains** complex. Given advances in technology, the Committee recommends that benefit-paying agencies develop a fully integrated, web-based access tool for all benefits.

### Improving Administration

- 37. Benefit-paying agencies must offer assurance to the public that benefit entitlement will be calculated correctly first time. The Committee is therefore concerned at the extent of historical underpayments and the fact that the SSA has had to spend much more on correcting these (£10 million) than it has spent on its benefit uptake activities. This suggests that basic improvements in administration alone could do much to ensure pensioners receive their correct entitlement.
- 38. The issue of overpayments is also a matter of concern for the Committee. Members are aware of several cases where repayments have been demanded from vulnerable individuals to correct mistakes made by government bodies. The lack of compassion shown in these cases not only causes considerable anxiety to the individuals but does little to build trust between benefit-paying agencies and the wider community.

#### **Recommendation 10**

39. Given the vulnerability of this client group, the Committee recommends that benefit-paying agencies use discretion and adopt a sensitive approach in communicating news to pensioners of overpayments; and explain in full to pensioners all available repayment options.

### Future developments

- 40. Benefit-paying agencies need to be more proactive and connected in their approach to benefit uptake. There are certain life events which should act as a signal to trigger intervention and prompt a review of entitlement. Examples might include nearing retirement age; the death of a spouse or a cared-for individual; or getting a new tenancy. Agencies need to share information to ensure they are aware of such changes of circumstances and that regular contact is used to identify trigger events of this nature.
- 41. Welfare reform will affect pensioners to a lesser extent than the working age client group. However, there will be a move towards a single-tier pension, and Housing Benefit will be abolished. It is therefore important that the SSA rigorously appraises the potential implications of these changes on uptake rates. It is also important that the process of welfare reform is used to review the delivery of benefits in a small geographical area such as Northern Ireland. Citizens have a right to expect a one-stop shop in respect of benefit administration.

#### Recommendation 11

42. Welfare Reform provides an opportunity to review the administration and delivery of benefits. The Committee recommends that DSD and DFP consider whether a single agency can be tasked with providing a joined-up benefits service.



Appendix 1

Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report

# Wednesday, 29 February 2012 Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present:	Mr Paul Maskey MP (Chairperson) Mr Joe Byrne (Deputy Chairperson) Mr Sydney Anderson Mr Michael Copeland Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Ross Hussey Mr Mitchel McLaughlin Mr Adrian McQuillan Mr Conor Murphy MP
In Attendance:	Miss Aoibhinn Treanor (Assembly Clerk) Mr Phil Pateman (Assistant Assembly Clerk) Mr Gavin Ervine (Clerical Supervisor) Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)
Apologies:	Mr John Dallat

2:00 pm The meeting opened in public session.

#### 4. Briefing on the NIAO Report 'Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners'

Mr Kieran Donnelly, Comptroller and Auditor General; Mr Eddie Bradley, Assistant Auditor General; and Mrs Claire Dornan, Audit Manager; briefed the Committee on the report.

2:09 pm Mr McLaughlin declared an interest stating that he is a pensioner.

2:11 pm Mr Girvan entered the meeting.

2:15 pm The meeting went into closed session after the C&AG's initial remarks.

2:38 pm Mr Hussey left the meeting.

2:41 pm Mr Copeland and Mr Easton left the meeting.

2:43 pm Mr Copeland and Mr Easton entered the meeting.

2:59 pm Mr Murphy left the meeting.

3:02 pm Mr Easton and Mr Girvan left the meeting.

# Wednesday, 7 March 2012 The Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present:	Mr Paul Maskey MP (Chairperson) Mr Joe Byrne (Deputy Chairperson) Mr Sydney Anderson Mr Michael Copeland Mr John Dallat Mr Paul Girvan Mr Ross Hussey Mr Mitchel McLaughlin Mr Adrian McQuillan
In Attendance:	Miss Aoibhinn Treanor (Assembly Clerk) Mr Phil Pateman (Assistant Assembly Clerk) Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor) Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)
Apologies:	Mr Alex Easton Mr Conor Murphy MP

2:00 pm The meeting opened in public session.

- 4. Evidence on the Northern Ireland Audit Office Report 'Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners'. The Committee took oral evidence on the above report from:
  - Mr Will Haire, Accounting Officer, Department for Social Development (DSD);
  - Mr Brian Doherty, Director of Working Age Services, Department for Social Development (DSD);
  - Mr Tommy O'Reilly, Chief Executive, Social Security Agency (SSA);
  - Mr John Wilkinson, Chief Executive, Land and Property Services (LPS); and
  - Mr John McPeake, Chief Executive, Northern Ireland Housing Executive (NIHE).

2:03 pm Mr McLaughlin declared an interest stating that he is a pensioner.

2:04 pm Mr Dallat left the meeting.

2:08 pm Mr Dallat entered the meeting.

2:18 pm Mr McLaughlin left the meeting.

2:25 pm Mr McLaughlin entered the meeting.

2:25 pm Mr Dallat left the meeting.

2:28 pm Mr Dallat entered the meeting.

2:29 pm Mr Hussey left the meeting.

2:38 pm Mr Hussey entered the meeting.

2:41 pm Mr Copeland left the meeting.

2:50 pm Mr Copeland entered the meeting.

2:55 pm Mr Girvan left the meeting.

- 2:57 pm Mr Girvan entered the meeting.
- **3:30 pm** Mr Hussey left the meeting.
- **3:44 pm** Mr Dallat left the meeting.
- **3:49 pm** Mr Dallat entered the meeting.
- **3:54 pm** Mr Byrne left the meeting.
- **3:56 pm** Mr McLaughlin left the meeting.
- **3:57 pm** Mr Byrne entered the meeting.
- 4:20 pm Mr Copeland left the meeting.
- 4:26 pm Mr Copeland entered the meeting.

The witnesses answered a number of questions put by the Committee.

*Agreed:* The Committee agreed to request further information from the witnesses.

# Wednesday, 14 March 2012 The Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present:	Mr Paul Maskey MP (Chairperson) Mr Joe Byrne (Deputy Chairperson) Mr Sydney Anderson Mr Michael Copeland Mr John Dallat Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Ross Hussey Mr Mitchel McLaughlin Mr Adrian McQuillan Mr Conor Murphy MP
In Attendance:	Miss Aoibhinn Treanor (Assembly Clerk) Mr Phil Pateman (Assistant Assembly Clerk) Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor) Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: None

2:00 pm The meeting opened in public session.

#### 4. Issues Arising from the Oral Evidence Session on NIAO Report 'Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners'

The Committee considered an issues paper relating to the previous week's evidence session.

2:35 pm Mr Copeland left the meeting.

- 2:36 pm Mr Copeland entered the meeting.
- 2:37 pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting.
- 2:38 pm Mr McQuillan entered the meeting.
- *Agreed:* The Committee agreed to proceed with the drafting of the report on the basis of the issues paper and its discussion.
- Agreed: The Committee agreed to write to the Department to request further information.

# Wednesday, 18 April 2012 The Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present:	Mr Paul Maskey MP (Chairperson) Mr Joe Byrne (Deputy Chairperson) Mr Sydney Anderson Mr Michael Copeland Mr John Dallat Mr Alex Easton Mr Paul Girvan Mr Ross Hussey Mr Mitchel McLaughlin Mr Conor Murphy MP
In Attendance:	Miss Aoibhinn Treanor (Assembly Clerk) Mr Phil Pateman (Assistant Assembly Clerk) Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor) Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer) Mr Jonathan McMillen (Assembly Legal Services)
Apologies:	Mr Adrian McQuillan

2:02 pm The meeting opened in public session.

#### 7. Draft Committee Report on Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners

The Committee considered its draft report.

Paragraphs 1 - 7 read and agreed.

Paragraph 8 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraphs 9 - 19 read and agreed.

Paragraph 20 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraphs 21 – 38 read and agreed.

Paragraph 39 read, amended and agreed.

Paragraph 40 – 42 read and agreed.

#### **Consideration of the Executive Summary**

- *Agreed:* The Committee agreed to reflect the amendments to the body of the report in the Executive Summary.
- *Agreed:* The Committee agreed the correspondence to be included within the report.
- Agreed: The Committee ordered the report to be printed.
- *Agreed:* The Committee agreed that it would seek an MOR update on this report 12 months after the original response.



# Appendix 2 Minutes of Evidence

# 7 March 2012

# Members present for all or part of the proceedings:

Mr Paul Maskey (Chairperson) Mr Joe Byrne (Deputy Chairperson) Mr Sydney Anderson Mr Michael Copeland Mr John Dallat Mr Paul Girvan Mr Ross Hussey Mr Mitchel McLaughlin Mr Adrian McQuillan

#### Witnesses:

Mr Brian Doherty Mr Will Haire	Department for Social Development
Mr John Wilkinson	Land and Property Services
Dr John McPeake	Northern Ireland Housing Executive
Mr Tommy O'Reilly	Social Security Agency
Also in attendance:	
Mr Kieran Donnelly	Comptroller and Auditor

	5	General
Ms Fiona Hamill		Treasury Officer of
		Accounts

- 1. The Chairperson: I welcome Mr Kieran Donnelly, the Comptroller and Auditor General, who is here with his audit team, and Ms Fiona Hamill, the Treasury Officer of Accounts. We are considering an important topic, which is the report of the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) on paying vulnerable people in society the benefits to which they are entitled. We all agree that, in the current economic climate, that is a fundamental requirement. It is estimated that one in five pensioners is living in poverty. Failing to pay pensioners their benefit entitlement, therefore, creates real hardships for that client group.
- 2. Do any members wish to declare an interest at this stage?
- 3. **Mr McLaughlin**: Yes, as a member of the older community.

- 4. **The Chairperson**: As a pensioner?
- 5. **Mr McLaughlin**: I am very interested.
- 6. **The Chairperson**: You are not there yet.
- 7. **Mr McLaughlin**: I am getting there. I am on my way.
- 8. **Mr S Anderson**: We are all on our way.
- 9. **The Chairperson**: OK. I welcome Mr Will Haire, the Department for Social Development's (DSD) accounting officer, who is here to respond to the Committee. Perhaps you would introduce your team, Will.
- 10. Mr Will Haire (Department for Social Development): Thank you, Chairperson. In light of the interdepartmental and inter-organisational nature of this key subject, I am joined by Dr John McPeake, the chief executive of the Northern Ireland Housing Executive (NIHE), Mr John Wilkinson from Land and Property Services (LPS), Mr Tommy O'Reilly, who heads the Social Security Agency (SSA), which is DSD's main delivery agency and Mr Brian Doherty, who is responsible for, among many other things, making sure that benefit entitlement is rolled out effectively.
- 11. **The Chairperson**: OK. Thank you. I will try to set the context for the discussion with a number of questions, after which the meeting will be opened up to members.
- 12. In recent times, there has been a lot of talk about welfare reform. Will that have any consequences for pensioners' benefits, and, if so, what are they?
- 13. **Mr Haire**: I will ask Tommy to comment on that in more detail, but, in broad terms, the work being done on universal credit, the legislation for which will come before the Assembly, will not, in itself, directly impact on that group in any significant way. There is a longerterm issue with pensions, which is out

for consultation. There was a White Paper some time ago, on which there was consultation, which looked at the potential for upgrading pensions generally: in essence, moving towards a single-tier pension here and absorbing the pension credit system into the state pension. We await the coalition Government bringing that forward. That is also a very significant issue.

- 14. Mr Tommy O'Reilly (Social Security Agency): As to the effect of the Welfare Reform Bill, most of the current benefits will remain as they are for pensioners. There are, however, a number of changes that will have an impact, the first one being housing benefit. Under the Welfare Reform Bill, housing benefit will be abolished, and, as a consequence, housing benefit for pensioners will change. Instead, they will receive a housing credit as part of their state pension credit. The current planned date for the move to the new regime is April 2014.
- 15. The Welfare Reform Bill will also introduce some minor changes, but there will be additional amounts for caring and severe disability awards for pensioners, and those will also appear in universal credit. It is important to stress that there will be no change because of the replacement of disability living allowance (DLA) with the personal independence payment. Pensioners will remain on DLA and will not be affected by the forthcoming changes.
- 16. Those are the major changes. The Pensions Bill going through the Assembly will bring further changes, and, as outlined, that will create a new single-tier regime.
- 17. **The Chairperson**: There will be some consequences, and that is why today's session about the uptake of benefits for pensioners is very important. We are trying to get that right and ensure the maximum uptake of benefits by pensioners.
- Paragraph 1.2 of the report states that 23% of pensioners here live in poverty. That seems to be a lot higher than in

other places. Twenty-three per cent of the overall population of pensionable age equates to somewhere in the region of 70,000 people, which is a very high number. Will you explain to what extent you think that pensioners not claiming benefits to which they are entitled contributes to poverty?

- 19. **Mr Haire**: The most recent figures that we have show that the figure of 23% has now come down to 19%, but that is higher than the GB figure of 16%, so that is an issue.—
- 20. **The Chairperson**: It still equates to over 60,000 of the population.
- 21. Mr Haire: Absolutely. Over the past decade, there has been a decrease in pensioner poverty, as measured by someone having an income of less than 60% of the median wage. However, it is still a very significant issue. You asked, Chair, how much of that is due to the lack of benefit take-up. We carry out a major family resources survey, but we do not believe that the resulting data is statistically sound enough to judge exactly how much of that is through the lack of uptake. The report suggests that we should consider putting more resource into that survey, but all our analysis indicates that that would not solve the problem.
- 22. Pro rata, our sample size in Northern Ireland is three times what it would be if we followed GB. We already put a fair amount of work into that, but it is inherently very difficult for such a survey to give an accurate figure. We are focusing much more of our resource on data sharing and other processes to try to get to pensioners in order to ensure their take-up of benefits. However, as the report indicates, we do not have a firm measure of exactly what the gap is. All we know is that we have been setting up a series of strategies since 2005 to try to reach out to pensioners, and we have had significant success in increasing the uptake year on year.
- 23. We have also had a wide range of programmes designed to make benefits more accessible, and we have worked

with the independent sector to make sure that our systems are much clearer. and all of that has resulted in an increased uptake. In every year of our investment, we have invested over £3 million in that, which gives us a return of £11 more in benefit uptake for every £1 we invest, so we have good value for money for that investment. However, as the report indicates, there is no basis on which we can say exactly what the gap is. Remember, circumstances in this group change all the time, and no survey can give us a perfect match of exactly how big that gap will be. However, we are setting up work and have a group for that. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation, as you will know, has a strong record in that area, and the Institute for Social and Economic Research has agreed to join our researchers. Work will start in May to determine how they can use other data to try to give us a better handle on the issue.

- 24. I must admit that we are also quite hopeful that, with benefit reform, it will be possible for us to access Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs (HMRC) income data for the general population. With that data, we think that we might be able to use those methods to get a better handle on the issue. However, the survey method will not improve our position.
- 25. **The Chairperson**: You mentioned a survey. The report looks at a survey that was carried out in 2004-06. Are those surveys still carried out today?
- 26. **Mr Haire**: That survey is carried out regularly. The most recent one has, certainly, been carried out since then. We have a sample size of 3,600, get a fairly high uptake on interviews, and it takes us around a year to conduct an analysis of that process. We can give you the most recent data on that.
- 27. **The Chairperson**: We appreciate that. Thank you.
- 28. Figure 1 on page 9 represents a disturbing picture of differential poverty rates. Is that a true picture? I ask that because we have seen recent figures

that you gave to the Committee. How much credibility to you place on those figures, given that Banbridge, for example, had, according to the report, 50% of pensioners in poverty? The next set of figures that you gave us suggest that the rate has dropped to 38%. As a Committee, can we place any reliance at all on the estimates that you gave us?

- 29. **Mr Haire**: The difficulty is that there are issues with quite small sample sizes. That is why our statisticians say that it is more important for a survey to provide relative positions but that you cannot place reliance on whether the rate is 50% or 38%. There is an issue here that, in certain rural areas, such as Banbridge, there seems to be a consistently higher level proportionately. Remember that the population of the Banbridge District Council area is relatively small compared with that of Belfast, for example. Although the Belfast level looks lower, the numbers are much greater. Therefore, you have to read the statistics with care.
- 30. We have used and still use that survey to try to get our targeting right and get out there. Therefore, the early work in some of our targeted campaigns was to look at those council areas where we thought that there was low uptake. However, as you suggested, Chairman, caution must be exercised when looking at those statistics because they are based on a relatively small sample size.
- 31. **The Chairperson**: The figures are very important to, for example, elected representatives and to Departments when taking forward initiatives. Therefore, a much more scientific approach must be taken to getting exact or much more accurate figures. Instead of 50%, the real figure in Banbridge could be 38%, but we are not sure whether even that is correct. Further steps must be taken to ensure that the figures are much more accurate.
- 32. **Mr Haire**: The key issue is that we have a very large overall sample size. However, when we start to get down to the detailed issues in sub-areas of Northern Ireland, the sample size will

never be able to give you the same quality of data. We have to accept that they give us broad ranges. That is the statistical reality. Even if we carried out a mass survey — for every thousand people we add, it costs us another £100,000 — such surveys are quite difficult because they require getting a lot of data from individuals. It takes an hour and a half for a household to fill in the survey because of the quality of data that it goes into. Therefore, it is always very difficult to get a handle on that process. The point that I was also making, Chairman, is that if and when we get hold of HMRC data and certain other data, we may be able to get better models.

33. The Chairperson: OK. We can move to paragraph 1.17, which relates to a 2008 Public Accounts Committee report. The Department gave an undertaking to the Committee:

> "future counter-fraud publicity campaigns would be designed in such a way as not to discourage the uptake of benefits, particularly by older people."

- 34. Will you tell us how you designed subsequent counter-fraud campaigns to meet that commitment?
- 35. Mr Haire: When we look at counterfraud and other issues, it is as much about making sure that we detect any underpayments in our system. We have spent considerable resources checking that those are right. As you will know, the benefit system here is complex, and DSD has many decision-makers and others checking those systems. We have spent about £10 million in the intervening period on making sure that we are getting those payments right and increasing payments to pensioners and others. That is a very important point that we want to make to people. The fraud aspect is one side of it, but as much in our minds is detecting the errors in our system, or decisions that have gone against people when they should have gone the other way, to make sure that the money gets to people. Tommy will talk more about fraud.

- 36. **Mr O'Reilly**: Since the recommendations of that report, we have not carried out any counter-fraud activity that would put off pensioners. As Will said, we have spent about £10 million over the past five years reassessing every state pension credit record in Northern Ireland to ensure that all benefits have been paid correctly. That work has resulted in the detection of significant numbers of underpayments and reparation being made to pensioners. At the same time, we spent £2.9 million on specific benefit uptake work with pensioners. Therefore, both fraud and error are important to us.
- 37. We have ceased all counter-fraud activity against pensioners. We now believe that the levels of that fraud in the benefit system are very low, which is why, in recent years, the Audit Office has excluded state pension and state pension credit from the qualification of the SSA's accounts. On the basis of the work that we have been doing, it also recognised that the levels of fraud are very small. Therefore, there is no counter-fraud activity taking place. However, we have spent significant money to try to correct errors and ensure that pensioners receive the correct amount of money to which they are entitled.
- 38. **Mr Haire**: If I remember rightly, pensioner fraud is 1% of the entire fraud. In any work that we have ever done, that group accounted for a tiny amount.
- 39. The Chairperson: I will give you an example of a case in my constituency. I will be brief, because I do not want to hold up the meeting. On Sunday, an 87-year-old pensioner rapped my door His son, who had been a chronic alcoholic, died about seven years ago. The pensioner received £30 a week carer's allowance, and that continued after his son's death. This is an 87-yearold man who becomes confused when he receives complex forms — I have an 83-year-old mother, and, every time she gets a form to fill in, it panics the life out of her because those forms are very complicated. Over the past number of years, that individual had been getting

£30 extra a week. Last year, they caught on to the fact that he was still getting the money and stopped his payments. Last week, however, he received a letter saying that he now owes more than £10,000. The man had a heart attack only a matter weeks ago, and, on Sunday, he was at my door, petrified about what his life would be like in the months and years ahead. He does not know where to turn and is left with a bill of £10,000. There might be other issues involved, and, had someone else filled in the form for him, the error might have been caught. Surely, however, the Department must take some responsibility for not catching on to an error for seven years or more.

- 40. **Mr O'Reilly**: We are very happy to have a look at individual cases, and there is a process in place for such cases to go through a review mechanism. If you want to send us details of the case, we will make sure that a review is carried out. We will try to make sure that it is looked into properly and come back to you.
- 41. **The Chairperson**: OK, I appreciate that. I do not like talking about individual cases, but that man came to me only last weekend. However, that is just one example. Other examples, which other members will touch on later, work the opposite way.
- 42. **Mr Hussey**: Good afternoon. Paragraph 2.1 of the C&AG's report sets out the responsibilities of departmental bodies involved in providing funding to pensioners. Does a place the size of Northern Ireland really need three separate bodies to administer benefits? Could service delivery not be changed so that one government body has responsibility for administering all pensioners' benefits on behalf of the various agencies?
- 43. **Mr Haire**: That is a very interesting point. The incoming universal credit for the working age population and the fact that we will bring many additional elements into the system, such as the housing benefit currently administered by the Housing Executive, will, inevitably, throw up the question of

how we generally deal with benefits in this process. Clearly, that is, in part, a political decision, in part. Let us take John Wilkinson's area of LPS, which fits into the rates system. That is connected through that system and the logic of its process, so it is most cheaply administered through that process. Obviously, we are coming to a stage at which we can ask ourselves what is most administratively sensible and whether we can we make it easier for the public to understand the process.

- 44. At this stage, before any of those decisions are made, we are trying to make processes work so that we connect across our organisation. The most classic example is applying for a pension. Now, most of the application process is by phone. Often, we process people's pensions on the phone, and it is a very quick exercise that takes, I think, about 11 minutes. Then, we check out which people need state pension credits. As the system in which we do that is connected, we get a much better uptake of state pension credit. We are then able to check whether housing benefit or rate relief is needed. We can either hand people over, through the telephonist system, to those organisations or start filling out the forms. Increasingly, therefore, a pensioner coming to us anew receives a fairly seamless service. You are right to ask whether, in the long term, a single organisation would suffice. Those are the sorts of challenges that we need to look at.
- 45. Currently, three organisations are involved. This autumn, we will work on determining whether we can combine a strategy to make the benefit uptake process much more proactive and connected. We will examine whether we can learn from all our experiences to build a more coherent process, accepting the different organisations that are currently involved. Those are the challenges that we need to address. because the public sees us as one part of government. That is logical - they just want a service. Obviously, there are complexities, but our job is to make

sure that the system and process are as seamless and straightforward as we can make them.

- 46. I want to go back to the remarks made by the Chairman. We are already working on a process to be used in the case of a death. As far as possible, we want one telephone call into our system to alert those administering all the different benefits. Certainly, we are trying to achieve that within our system. At the time of a death, the last thing that people want is to have to ring round lots of different parts of government. Some electronic means of doing that would be of great benefit to the public.
- 47. Mr O'Reilly: We currently work with the Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP). It is a legal requirement to register a death with a registrar of births and deaths. We try to get that file from DFP weekly. We then go into all of a deceased individual's benefits electronically and try to terminate them at that point. At the same time, we contact the family by telephone, in writing or by sending a form to ensure that they are getting their entitlement, whether through bereavement grants or bereavement benefit. That avoids the trauma of potential overpayments simply because someone has not notified a particular agency, while ensuring that individual families receive any benefit to which they are entitled.
- 48. **Mr Hussey**: You must also ensure that no agency writes to a dead person. We often hear of letters being addressed to someone who has died, even when the agency involved has been informed of the death.
- 49. I want to support what the Chairman said. At the weekend, I met a constituent who has received overpayments totalling £36,000. However, he is convinced that he advised the relevant agencies of his situation at various times. It helps when all bodies work together like a jigsaw. However, when that jigsaw falls to pieces, unfortunately, someone's life falls to pieces with it.

- 50. It is clear from paragraph 2.5 that your uptake estimates contain a number of weaknesses. Even allowing for those, the figures are startling. In the worst case, some £200 million of benefits may be unclaimed by pensioners. What is your view on that?
- 51. Mr Haire: We worked on those estimates for some time. However, we do not think that the basis for them is strong and have given up using them because they are too broad. Each year, when we carry out the family resources survey, a small number of people respond with evidence that they have under-claimed, but we have to extrapolate that to the wider population. I described how we are working with academics to determine whether we can get better data by using other bits of government data and other surveys to get a better handle on the absolute extent of under-claiming.
- 52. Another point is that we have major public campaigns every year, and we will keep doing so. At the moment, we have, for example, the Make the Call campaign, which has been in the press all the time. So far, that has produced, I think, just over 10,000 benefit checkups. That campaign has been going very well and probably converts to 4,000 or 5,000 increases in pensioners' benefits. That level of change happens every year as a result of our different campaigns. A big campaign brings that return, and that is really important. There are 300,000 pensioners, so just over 1% receive an upgrade every year. That tells me that there are issues. that people's circumstances change and that it is really important that we continue that work. Does that give us some sense that under-claiming is not at the higher levels? The results give me some confidence that that is the case. As I said, we have been doing this consistently. Of the additional £38 million claimed through all our active benefit campaigns, about £30 million was for pensioners.
- 53. We also work the independent sector, which refers claimants to us. Estimates are a genuine problem, and I wish that

we could get a better handle on those. That would leave me much better able to know exactly where I am. It is just a statistical problem to which there is no easy survey solution.

- 54. Mr Hussey: At a previous meeting, I pointed out that a problem with the Make the Call campaign is that older people do not like using the telephone. They do not like talking to strangers on the phone. Most older people are advised by younger relatives not to discuss their finances on the phone. so there is a conflict of interest. We all know that con artists target people who will automatically assume that a call is about their benefits. Before they know it, they have given half their life story to a complete stranger who then empties their bank account. So there are concerns about that aspect of the campaign.
- 55. **Mr Haire**: Yes. That is why we are trying to work with trusted third parties in the independent advice sector, and they help people with that process. I totally understand your point.
- 56. Mr Brian Doherty (Department for Social Development): There are, undoubtedly, issues with the telephone. That is why our benefit uptake campaign is looking at different mechanisms. We write to people. Pensioners who wish to do so — silver surfers as we call them — can go online to carry out their own benefit check. The Make the Call campaign ends at the end of this month, and, interestingly, our most recent figures show that about 13,000 people have contacted us. Of those, 40% have some entitlement to a benefit, not just a social security benefit.
- 57. **Mr McLaughlin**: Sorry, what was that figure?
- 58. **Mr B Doherty**: Around 40%. The rate of conversion to benefit is around 13%, which is higher than any targeted activity that we do. The campaign has been hugely successful. We were encouraged by Age NI's endorsement of the campaign. The Commissioner for Older People also featured on our

advertisement, endorsing the campaign. She is a good advocate who, we hope, gives people confidence in the bona fides of the ad's phone number and in our using the details that they give to help them.

- 59. **Mr McQuillan**: I would like to put the issue into context. You say that there are 300,000 pensioners, and, according to the family resources survey detailed in paragraph 2.7, 50% of those pensioners are not getting the benefits to which they are entitled. What can you do to increase that rate? Of 300,000 people, 150,000 are not getting what they are entitled to, and you say that 13% of an uptake on one benefit is good. I do not think that it is.
- 60. Mr O'Reilly: It comes back to the same issue that Will outlined. All the figures that are being used are based on data from the Department for Social Development's family resources survey. A number of commentators are using that data to assert that different levels of benefit are being unclaimed, but the Audit Office report recognises the fact that there are statistical issues with that level of data and sample size. While that uncertainty remains, and until we find a way through it, the Social Security Agency and the Department are focused on trying to take some real practical measures to try to ensure that as many pensioners as possible have access to benefits through the types of channels that they want to use, including the telephone or through trusted parties such as Citizens Advice or Advice NI. This year, we launched innovation projects with voluntary and community sector organisations that are using different techniques, such as GP surgeries and faith-based organisations. We use a wide range of methods, because, at present, we cannot rely on the statistics, and we need to ensure that pensioners are getting access.
- 61. **Mr McQuillan**: Are you still using the family resources survey? I thought that Mr Haire said earlier that you were.
- 62. **Mr Haire**: We are not using it for the purposes of this matter, but we use it

for much wider issues. It is the major survey on poverty in Northern Ireland.

- 63. **Mr McQuillan**: You do not use it for uptake of benefits by pensioners?
- 64. **Mr Haire**: No; in the detailed area of questioning for that subgroup, it does not give the required quality of data.
- 65. **Mr McQuillan**: What did you put in its place before doing away with it?
- 66. Mr Haire: We expanded the family resources survey in Northern Ireland so that, pro rata, it is three times larger than other areas. We cannot keep on doing that, because the statisticians say that, for this issue whereby we are trying to find out why people are not taking up particular benefits, the survey will not give reliable data. A particular and very complex question is being asked, and you will not get the response from that survey. Other areas are experiencing similar problems. In the area of poverty, the survey does not give that material. That was our conclusion.
- 67. From the report, it is evident that the range that we were being given from the survey was so broad that it was meaningless. So we spent a lot of time looking at how we data-match various pieces of information about people, and we put all our money into the process of trying to get that data to target pensioners to find out whether we can get to them and make them get a claim. As I said, out of that process of targeted work, an additional £30 million is being claimed by pensioners. We put in £3 million. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) in GB has now walked away from this area. It does not make that investment but gives data out to charities and other bodies. We invest in the issue because we know the importance that the Executive place on tackling poverty. We are now moving on to see whether we can get other data sets, particularly on family income through the HMRC database. We think that, by doing some work on those data sets, we might be able to get a better handle.
- 68. That is why we are going to work with the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and the Institute for Social and Economic Research to see whether they can give us tighter clarity on what it is about. Finding a figure is one thing, but, frankly, finding the people is more important to me. Even if we knew that the figure is 10%, the question would be of how to get to those 10%. That is where we have been spending our time. We have been trying different ranges of strategies and ways, some of which Brian described. We have considered whether there are different ways of designing our forms and different outreaches to try to get people to make the call or to fill in the forms. When I spoke about the way in which we are doing business, we are filling in forms for people and doing as much as we can. We are applying that alternative route.
- 69. **Dr John McPeake (Northern Ireland** Housing Executive): May I make a brief comment on housing benefit, Chair? The situation with housing benefit is slightly better because we are fortunate in that the Housing Executive is a major landlord as well as the administrator of the benefit. For example, in the Housing Executive, we have a round number of 87,000 tenants. Of those, 68,500, which is approximately 79%, are in receipt of housing benefit. That is the figure for the general population. As a landlord, we have details about our tenants, and we have 29,400 elderly tenants, of whom 25,500 are in receipt of housing benefit. That is 87%. So the uptake level among elderly Housing Executive tenants is a good bit higher than it is among the general population. We are also very lucky in that we know who those 3,900 or so elderly tenants who are not in receipt of housing benefit are and where they live, and we have an exercise in hand to contact those people on a sample basis. From that, we will, first, be able to provide a reliable estimate of the likely maximum eligibility level, which is one of the most difficult things to come to, and, secondly, we will have a targeted action to promote uptake in that group.

- 70. **Mr McQuillan**: It did not help when the Housing Executive took housing benefit out of the district offices and centralised it. It made it harder for us, as public representatives, to chase up a housing benefit problem for a constituent, because we have to go through to a different office that does not know the ins and outs of the local district office, which had it sorted in maybe half the time. The Housing Executive needs to streamline that a wee bit.
- 71. **The Chairperson**: I want to ask Mr Wilkinson about poverty. I got a letter, addressed to the Assembly, in the post today from Land and Property Services about benefit take-up and the LPS outreach programme. Is that a coincidence, or was it sent because you are here today? Am I just a sceptic? [Laughter.]
- 72. Mr John Wilkinson (Land and Property Services): I will be honest and say that I do not know anything about that, Chairman.
- 73. The Chairperson: That surprises me even more. You should know about it, because it is about benefit uptake, and you are up here to talk about that. So your officials are not even telling you, even though you are appearing as witnesses in front of us today. It is a good scheme and a good idea to get information out there. A full-time outreach officer goes into constituencies to explain the rates, yet some of the other agencies, such as the Social Security Agency, have stopped doing outreach work. When people contact the local offices, they are told that staff are no longer available to do that work. Some local community groups in my area were doing that annually, and the benefit uptake from pensioners increased. However, it has been stopped. So one agency has stopped while another one will introduce it from this week.
- 74. **Mr B Doherty**: I am slightly surprised at that because, during this year, we have undertaken 5,500 outreach visits; it is one of our most successful programmes. We have 20 dedicated

outreach advisers located throughout the country, and, when people make the call, they can ask for a home visit, and we will undertake that. It is hugely popular. Indeed, I believe that some MLAs — possibly some people in this Chamber — have mobile phone numbers for our outreach officers and contact them directly. So I am surprised that you were given that information.

- 75. **The Chairperson**: In my constituency, a local community group checked it out and was told that people could not be supplied to do that event on a particular day. They were given a good bit of notice. I will get back to you on that.
- 76. Mr Haire: We have outreach officers in the SSA, and John McPeake described the connection with the Housing Executive. Those contact systems with John Wilkinson and his outreach team are really strong. As we look towards the joint strategy, we have been working together as organisations and co-ordinating a lot of opportunities. When we get anybody out there — to go back to Mr Hussey's point — the public just see us as government. Can we make sure that every visit that we make answers more questions on that process? How do we do that? Making that a more seamless process is the exciting challenge that we now have. We are committed to seeing how we can do that.
- 77. **Mr Copeland**: I want to return to something that John said that I trying to get right in my head. You gave some figures for pensioners who are in receipt of housing benefit and used those as an indicative figure for uptake. I think that you said that the uptake among that group was 87%. Were you referring to tenancies or tenants? There is a difference. In other words, were you referring to individual people or to properties that may have one or two pensioners in them?
- 78. **Dr McPeake**: It was tenancies.
- 79. **Mr Copeland**: That figure of 87% could be accurate if every property was occupied by one pensioner, but in

properties in which there are couples, that percentage may be reduced.

- 80. Dr McPeake: The way that it works is that we allocate properties on a tenancy basis. Some of those tenancies are held in the name of one person and others in the name of two people. However, the benefit entitlement is based on the household, and you would not have two people receiving that benefit in one property. It would be a different matter if it was a house in multiple occupation (HMO). In the private rented market, some buildings are subdivided into a series of flats or self-contained accommodations, and one address may have several households and separate claimants. However, in Housing Executive properties, there is normally only one claimant in each property.
- 81. **Mr McQuillan**: Paragraph 2.13 sets out the consequences of not having sound benefit uptake estimates. You lack a firm evidence base for your strategy; you cannot benchmark, you cannot set meaningful targets, and you cannot properly measure impact. Do you accept that that is the case and that you must do more, and do it quickly, to get some robust evidence in that area?
- 82. **Mr Haire**: We have been absolutely clear that the key issue is the problem of obtaining the exact level of underclaiming. Like other jurisdictions, we have found it difficult to establish an accurate process for that. As the rest of the report demonstrates, we have carried out campaigns, and we measure the outcomes of those carefully. Therefore, I can tell you that, for every pound that I invest —
- 83. **Mr McQuillan**: You can measure outcomes, but you cannot measure before you get into those. You cannot measure what it starts off at.
- 84. **Mr Haire**: I readily admit that. I was explaining to you the ways in which we are trying to achieve that process and to get a better answer. I can, and we do, measure effectively what we are doing to try to narrow that gap, but I cannot get an accurate measurement of the size

of the gap. It would be good if we could do that, and I hope that, in time, we will get a better handle on the process. That does not mean that the work that we are doing to narrow the gap is not carefully organised and well evaluated. We are committed to doing that and are keen to see how we can get the best return from the different ways and means of doing that. We at least have the basis of good strategic work in that area. We are committed to trying to do that and to deliver it cost-effectively.

- 85. **Mr S Anderson**: Thank you for coming along today, gentlemen. Paragraph 1.14 states that the Audit Office recommended the collection of data on uptake rates nine years ago. Why are you are no further on now than you were then? We can talk about percentages and what you consider to be good uptakes, and so on. I refer to figure 1 in the Audit Office report, which the Chair mentioned, and whether the percentages for Banbridge in my constituency were accurate. Have we made any progress in nine years?
- 86. Mr Haire: We have made progress. We have increased the sample size, done all the work on the family resources survey and proved that that will not work. We have stopped that and pointed out that it will not work statistically. Therefore, we have put our efforts into important data matching and to connecting the process so that we can better target where the people who are not claiming are likely to be and reach out to them. I can point you to the good work that has been done in the past seven or eight years, through which we are achieving those outcomes for you. We are now trying to see whether we can put together the data that we get from different parts of government to give us a slightly firmer idea not only of the size of the problem but, more importantly, of where the people who are not claiming are so that we can get to them. We have been putting all our resource into that area. The outcomes from those returns are encouraging. Brian referred to the fact that we get a 13% uptake from our more general calls. Early returns on the Make

the Call campaign, for example, show a very high conversion rate, equivalent to anything that has happened in GB. We can demonstrate that we have put our resources where it is most cost-effective for them to be.

- 87. **Mr B Doherty**: It is fair to say that, when it comes to an individual's core benefit, the Social Security Agency and its partners do very well. By that I mean that, for an older person, the state pension is the starting point. We use our own data to target people. If we do not know people in our system at all, it is very difficult for us to target them.
- 88. We have found that a change of circumstances or a life-changing event makes the difference. Perhaps, as Tommy mentioned, there has been a family bereavement or someone who has a caring responsibility is unable to work. We are trying to capture that. A lot of our data is flawed and difficult for us to use. It relates to a moment in time rather than the continuum. We find that, with older people, there are changes over time. Our problem is to try to get at that, which is why our campaigns are based on benefits that we think people may not get. We screen people in or out. For instance, in early 2005-06, when we started our campaign, single females over 75 years of age were deemed to be in a very vulnerable group, so we wrote to them all. As time has gone by in doing those exercises, we have become more learned in how we should target people and about the benefits that they will not get, associated to their core benefit.
- 89. I suggest that we are strong on the core benefit. The issue is about contacting people regularly to ensure that, if their circumstances change, we can have some form of conversation that allows us to give them a full benefit assessment, which could be for disability living allowance (DLA) or attendance allowance; we also use a geographic exercise. It is about the continuum of changes in people's lives and how we can respond to those changes. It is great if people contact us, because we can then have a detailed

conversation with them. I understand why people do not contact us, and that is when, in essence, we have to hunt them out using the information that we have.

- 90. **Mr S Anderson**: That is to be welcomed. However, can we say that, after nine years, it has been a slow process even to get to that stage?
- 91. **Mr B Doherty**: Those people are hard to get to, because there are a number of barriers to benefits, which are detailed in the report. Some people say that they have enough and do not want any further benefit. Some people feel that there is a stigma attached to getting benefit from us. Some people do not like to deal with government. Therefore, we have to use other methodologies. As we undertook our programme over the past nine years, we have tried our best to learn and to change our approaches to ensure that they get to the most vulnerable people.
- 92. You would be surprised at how many people whom we contact do not want us to do an assessment for them, even though we may have made multiple contacts with them. It is not a case of us annoying them by any means, but we may have written to them and are subsequently following that up. A number of people say that they do not want to be referred, even to Advice NI, which is an independent organisation, to have a benefit uptake assessment undertaken. That is very difficult for us.
- 93. Mr S Anderson: I take your point that there are people who find it difficult, or who do not wish, to make claims. My experience is that people in isolated rural areas are more laid back — maybe Ross would know about that. I deal with such people, and it is sometimes difficult to encourage them to come forward and claim their entitlements. We need to work to get to those people, because there are a number of them.
- 94. **Mr B Doherty**: Mr Anderson, you touched on a group that we are targeting. We work in partnership with colleagues in the Department of Agriculture and Rural Development

(DARD), which makes the initial contact with people in rural areas. We will offer a benefit assessment to around 7,000 people through our outreach officers. We do not have the data, but DARD has the links because of its networks. I agree with you that it is a very difficult group to get at, although I will not go into the reasons why they are difficult to get at.

- 95. **Mr Hussey**: Sydney is obviously encouraging you to go to west Tyrone to sort the people there out first.
- 96. **Mr S Anderson**: OK, Ross, we will leave that one.
- 97. **Mr McLaughlin**: How determined are people to break through that personal resistance or reticence to engage? It is part of the human condition, and everybody can speak to it, yet we have people who are very vulnerable and need to have access to that entitlement. What is the nth degree to which we go? At what point do we break off and say that those people do not want to talk to us and accept as a statistic that there are people who do not get their entitlements?
- 98. Mr B Doherty: We are very determined in the first instance. I will give you an example. One project that we are undertaking this year is to contact 25,000 people and refer them to Advice NI. We are using our data and offering people an independent benefit assessment.
- 99. **Mr McLaughlin**: That is 25,000 people whom you believe are not getting —
- 100. **Mr B Doherty**: We are targeting based on some data that we have that suggests that they may be entitled to attendance allowance. It is a grouping, and we would sift them out to get —
- 101. Mr McLaughlin: It is intelligence-led.
- 102. **Mr B Doherty**: Yes. The initial response to our letters was probably around 18% to 20%, which is the norm. We have made 8,500 follow-up calls, and through those calls we might get some 2,000 to 2,500 who then say that they will agree to have their details passed

to Advice NI. We would then probably make a further call or contact, but there does come a stage at which people get a little bit fed up with phone calls. The point has already been made that perhaps such people are not sure of the bona fides of the phone calls. There is a conversation, at which point we know that people have decided that they really do not want to go any further. However, they could feature in another programme further on down the line, perhaps in a year or 18 months' time. Our very experienced outreach officers do that, and they get a sense of when individuals have decided that they have had enough contact.

- 103. **Mr McLaughlin**: Thank you for that. John did his best to interrupt us.
- 104. **Mr Copeland**: Anyone in receipt of benefits has always, in my view, displayed a substantial reticence to go near the agency. There used to be a notion that things could not get any worse, but now I think that it is the case that things cannot get any better. In your experience, are there instances in which a pensioner approaches you and is found to be in receipt of too many benefits as opposed to too few, and consequently suffer — if that is the right word?
- 105. Mr O'Reilly: One issue that we learned over the past number of years, and one of the biggest areas for overpayments, has been with cases whereby pensioners, often through no fault of their own, have not notified us when they have been in receipt of occupational pensions. They have been in receipt of state pension credit, which, in a sense, signals that they are in poverty and need support, whereas in fact, they have not declared that they receive an occupational pension, which needs to be taken into account. Reviewing errors in the system has also thrown up a number of cases of people receiving overpayments. We have had to deal with that issue over the past number of years in as sensitive a way as possible, taking into account the fact that some people simply do not know. Other people have deliberately avoided that situation,

but there are people who are simply unaware.

- 106. **Mr Copeland**: It comes back to error and fraud, and we have had discussions on the Social Development Committee. If the state has not been providing a benefit that should have been paid, it is backdated for a period of time. However, if a pensioner is found to be claiming something, rightly or wrongly, that he or she should not have been receiving, the responsibility seems to go back a substantially greater distance.
- 107. **Mr B Doherty**: We have no specific policy intention that it is one or the other. We try to look at each case and determine the appropriate situation. If someone has been receiving benefit incorrectly, but that has happened not through their fault or their doing but as a consequence of us not notifying them, we will clearly take those issues into account. On many occasions, we wipe off the overpayment, simply because it has been our error.
- 108. Mr Copeland: Forgive me, Tommy, I have one last point. I refer to specific, individual cases. People have come to me with letters that claim that they had been overpaid. The biggest sum I saw was a demand for £42,000. The person to whom that letter was sent, in their entire life, could never have comprehended, had access to or had an appreciation of the size of that amount of money. It leads, as the Chair said, to blind panic.
- 109. Do you have a trigger level? Let us say that you were about to send out a letter to a person of 85 years of age that states that he or she owes you £50,000. Is there a process by which the age of the person to whom the communication is going, and the scale and nature of the communication. is flagged up so that you can decide whether it may be better to explain it over the telephone or send someone to see him or her. Such a letter, coming through the letter box, to anyone in this Chamber would, with very few exceptions, fundamentally challenge the ability to function for several hours.

- 110. **Mr O'Reilly**: I cannot sit at this table and say that we are perfect, by any means, in handling customer services. I take the point. There is always an issue of balancing our responsibilities in handling public moneys and dealing with an individual, providing him or her with proper information on the source of the overpayment, how it has arisen and how it has been calculated. There is a lot of detail in that.
- 111. **Mr Copeland**: Also, how it is going to be repaid.
- 112. Mr O'Reilly: I take your point. That is a part of the discussion that needs to take place. It is not a matter of us coming along and saying, "You owe us £40,000. Please send a cheque to us by next week." It is a question of how we recover it.
- 113. **Mr Copeland**: There is, at this stage, no indicative process whereby, if a demand for over a certain amount is going to someone over a certain age, we need to take another look at it before we send it out?
- 114. Mr B Doherty: There is: our outreach officers. I welcome picking up the case of the 70- or 80-year-old constituent. With a vulnerable customer, when there has been a large overpayment, especially of the magnitude of which you spoke, the letter should have been hand delivered rather than dropped in the post. We need to work on that. It is not necessarily about benefit uptake, which is what our outreach officers are focused on, but we recognise that, in certain circumstances, we should go out to have a conversation with an individual to ensure that he or she hears what we have to say, to discuss the options, what next steps he or she needs to take as to how the process works and any repayment that may need to be made.
- 115. **Mr McLaughlin**: I suppose, if it came in the post, they could always deny that they received it. [Laughter.]
- 116. **Mr S Anderson**: I will move on and address this question to you, John. Paragraphs 2.16 to 2.18 suggest that LPS has difficulties in estimating uptake

levels. Does your agency do anything to improve its evidence base? Does it work with other agencies to do so?

- 117. **Mr Wilkinson**: We are new to some of this work. For example, rate relief was introduced in 2007 and lone pensioner allowance in 2008. Lately, we have been sharing data and information with the SSA. In 2009, legislation was amended to enable that to happen. We have been looking at data modelling to improve our understanding of the target audiences and using it to develop our understanding of the percentage of uptakes and the improvements that we are making to the reliefs and benefits that we administer.
- 118. **Mr S Anderson**: You may be slightly deviating from the question. How much of LPS's resources are being devoted to that sort of exercise and how much into other LPS activities we will not go into that today, John picking up rates and that sort of thing. In targeting LPS resources, have you honed in on this issue to try to touch base with other agencies to overcome the problem?
- 119. **Mr Wilkinson**: Yes. Taking it from the ground, I have 77 or 80 staff involved in two teams. One team works predominantly on housing benefit and rate relief ; the other works on the lone pensioner allowance, disabled person's allowance and all the outreach work, leaflets and pamphlets, including, for example, those that the Chairman just showed us.
- 120. Part of the work of the managers in those teams is to liaise with other organisations. We do a lot of work with the SSA, for example, and are trying to learn from its greater experience and knowledge in those areas. We also work with the NIHE in some of our outreach work and run outreach events in partnership with some of the advice organisations. A schedule in my notes lists all the outreach work that took place over the past year. In doing that, again, we work constantly with all the advice organisations, so an awful lot is going on.

- 121. **Mr S Anderson**: When you say there is a lot going on in LPS, does that mean that you are happy with the resources that you are putting in, or could more be going on?
- 122. Mr Wilkinson: Yes, I am, and I am happy with some of the headline results for the improvements in uptake. We constantly monitor the amount of resource and the volume of receipts of new cases and amendments to existing cases. My teams use a resourcing model, which we constantly review. In fact, on the back of seeing monthly increases in the number of claims over the past couple of years, we are reviewing that at the moment. We are going through our business planning for 2012-13 and reviewing the amount of resource to make sure that we maintain a service in those areas.
- 123. **Mr S Anderson**: Paragraph 3.3 of the C&AG's report explains:

*"a range of legislation introduced since 1992 enables Northern Ireland benefit-paying agencies to share data for the purposes of maximising uptake".* 

- 124. Paragraph 3.4, however, states that all the protocols necessary to enable data sharing were, at the time of writing, not agreed. How do you explain such major delays? Why were you not able to get protocols in place between two bodies under the authority of the same Department?
- 125. **Mr Haire**: I am glad to say that that protocol is now in place. I cannot remember the details of exactly why it took us so long, but I know that data has already been shared between the SSA and the Housing Executive.
- 126. **Dr McPeake**: Just before Christmas, for example, we took a data transfer from the SSA of 100 cases for a targeted promotional campaign. We now have a second request in with the agency. So we now have a model protocol that covers the exchange of information between us and the SSA. It seems to cover all the eventualities that we would need for the promotion of benefit uptake.

- 127. **Mr S Anderson**: I suppose that that is progress.
- 128. In paragraph 3.5, the C&AG recommends that every agency should commence data sharing and maintain records of how successful individual data-sharing exercises are in improving the uptake of benefits. Will each of you tell the Committee what data-sharing exercises they have undertaken and how they improved the uptake?
- 129. Mr B Doherty: John has already referred to some of those. However, I will detail four of the key exercises that we undertook. There have been details of social security customers aged 70 and over receiving pension credit through a "lone pensioner" flag, as we call it, provided to Land and Property Services. That increased its live load by about 15%. We also shared further details with Land and Property Services of those in receipt of state pension but not state pension credit. The outcome was that its rate relief live load increased by 39% from April 2009 to December 2011.
- 130. John mentioned one of our service level agreements with the Housing Executive. We carried out an exercise in which we provided details of customers getting housing benefit but not state pension credit. That resulted in something like £3.6 million of additional benefit going to customers. What is important is that the Department is a very big provider of information. Rather than getting information out, we probably have some of the strongest gateways. However, as already mentioned, that does not take away from the fact that there is more that we can do. We hope that, through certain elements of welfare reform —Tommy mentioned universal credit - we will receive Revenue and Customs information that will provide us with income levels. We must ensure that the legislation, which will go through the Assembly in due course, allows us to process benefits and undertake activity to increase benefit uptake.
- 131. **Mr S Anderson**: You mentioned our friends at HMRC. Have any of you

approached HMRC about the possibility of data sharing?

- 132. **Mr O'Reilly**: We have had discussions with HMRC. However, at present, because that is a reserved matter, we require powers through Westminster for it to happen. That is now happening with the forthcoming Welfare Reform Bill, through which it will come into Northern Ireland.
- 133. Mr Copeland: I am not sure whether it was you who said it, Tommy, but at a recent Committee for Social Development meeting, a comment was made about the exchange of information between HMRC and the child maintenance and enforcement division. or child support. Apparently, it will have something in place by the latter part of the year. There were issues with people establishing limited companies, paying themselves the minimum wage and drawing directors' dividends and salaries to depress the amount on which their liability was based. Therefore, that must exist somewhere. I believe that it will come in during the middle of the year.
- 134. **Mr B Doherty**: The issue is more about the purpose for which the gateway can be used. It probably could be used in pursuit of absent parents to establish their incomes in order to determine their payments. However, I am saying that, under the legislation, you must state specifically —
- 135. **Mr Copeland**: for what you want to use the information.
- 136. **Mr B Doherty**: Yes. Across government, we have gateways for fraud issues. There are good gateways that allow us to share data for that purpose. However, for activities such as benefit uptake, specific powers are needed.
- 137. **Mr Copeland**: Therefore, if you get particular information about an individual, you can use that only for the purposes for which you obtained it, but not for anything else?
- 138. **Mr O'Reilly**: Yes, that is one of the vagaries of data protection.

#### 139. Mr Copeland: I understand that.

- 140. **The Chairperson**: I want to go back to Sydney's point about data sharing. Brian, you gave your point of view. Perhaps, we could hear from Tommy and the two Johns about what they have done with regard to data sharing.
- 141. **Mr O'Reilly**: Brian has responded on behalf of the agency.
- 142. **The Chairperson**: OK, we will hear from the two Johns, then.
- 143. Dr McPeake: Certainly. Brian gave an example in which we recently provided information at DSD's request. We provide a monthly update on our live caseload to the SSA. In turn, we now get information back from the agency in a number of circumstances. I have to say that the most recent exercise, which we did before Christmas, did not produce much of a return. However, we were not despondent, because it is a new opportunity for us, and we feel that there is an untapped market. Therefore, we will continue to repeat the exercise. That is why, as I said, we asked recently for a second tranche in a different location.
- 144. A data-sharing issue that is worth mentioning from our point of view is that as well as sharing information with other agencies — we have a close relationship with John Wilkinson — we also have to be careful to co-ordinate our various promotion activities so that we do not end up stepping on one another's toes. One of the other key things that we do when we exchange information is ensure that each of us uses it in a way that complements one another rather than stepping on one another's toes.
- 145. **Mr Wilkinson**: I will give one example. We have been running some Making a Difference events: the acronym is MAD. We have been working with councils throughout Northern Ireland. At present, we are running events with Belfast City Council. Those events are aimed primarily at older and vulnerable people who physically cannot attend some of the outreach events that we run. The aim, therefore, is to get people who work in the community to attend so that we

can give them information, handouts, leaflets and training on the various benefits and reliefs that we administer. To support those events, we have, recently, been receiving downloads of data from SSA and looking at that with regard to data modelling and the various groups and targets in it. We have used that information to support the Making a Difference events and target those whom we think we will be interested in, and want to come to, them.

- 146. **The Chairperson**: Have either of your two organisations been in contact with Revenue and Customs about data sharing? If so, what was its response?
- 147. **Dr McPeake**: We have not had any direct contact with HMRC, but we are involved with the SSA in the introduction of the universal credit. Part of our plan involves connecting with HMRC data.
- 148. The Chairperson: And you, John?
- 149. **Mr Wilkinson**: It is very much the same with us. On that front, the liaison will take place through the interdepartmental working group, and the lead will be taken by the SSA.
- 150. **Mr Byrne**: I welcome the panel. Figure 9 on page 32 of the report reveals that only about 6,500, or 9%, of the approximately 72,000 pensioners contacted through your benefit uptake programme secured additional benefits. That seems to be a low return. I will put it another way: over 90% of those targeted did not secure additional benefit. Why is the successful claimant rate so low, and how have you changed the programme to improve it? Additionally, am I correct in saying that the independent advisory service has a greater success rate in reaching claimants than your Pensions Advisory Service?
- 151. **Mr Haire**: We validate our returns, but I do not know about the validation of the returns of the independent service, so I cannot comment on those.
- 152. **Mr B Doherty**: We validate all of our exercises, but we do not do that in a way that determines whether we or any

of our partners are more successful. Importantly, we use a number of different routes and avenues to find the one with which targeted individuals are most comfortable. I mentioned the barriers to benefits earlier, and, as has been pointed out, some people do not wish to deal with government. We recognise that, and, as a result, the majority of our targeted exercises since 2005 have been delivered through thirdparty organisations such as Advice NI, Citizens Advice or the innovation fund for increasing benefit uptake that we launched this year. Since 2005, five organisations have undertaken seven projects for us.

- 153. We undertake our own work on benefit uptake. So far this year, our 20 outreach officers have made 5,500 visits, and their visits have a very high rate of conversion to benefit. This is not about who is best; it is about offering different channels. The different channels into the agency include our telephony line; outreach officers; jobs and benefits offices or social security offices, if people still want to use those: and our trusted friends in the third sector, who add a further tier through which some people feel more comfortable engaging with us.
- 154. Mr Haire: I will go back to your original question, Mr Byrne. If you benchmark that exercise against similar exercises carried out by DWP and others, you generally get a conversion rate either side of 10%. In such exercises, the net must be cast guite widely, and a conversion rate of 10% is, generally, what is achieved. The trail described in figure 9 is fairly typical of what emerges from those types of processes. As we do not know exactly whose circumstances will have changed and which people may have a need, we must, by definition, cast the net more widely. Although we refine the data to make the exercise reasonably targeted, there will, inevitably, be some filtering of that process, but it is better to go too wide than too narrow at an early stage.
- 155. **Mr Byrne**: That begs the question of whether your targeting methodology

works. Are we trying to find a needle in a haystack, or is there a more refined process that you can use so that those entitled to benefits receive them?

- 156. **Mr Haire**: Unless I could look into everybody's bank accounts, I suppose that the answer is —
- 157. **Mr Byrne**: These are vulnerable people.
- 158. **Mr Haire**: Without being able to look into that level of detail, there is no way other than casting the net more widely. I think that what our process achieves is in line with anything that I have seen elsewhere.
- 159. **Mr Byrne**: Is the team of 20 pension advisers big enough? Brian reckoned that they were very busy. Are they so busy that they do not get to as many people as they should?
- 160. Mr B Doherty: Over time, we have reviewed the outreach officer service, which extends beyond older people. We believe that the current number in the team is sufficient to meet demand. However, we work heavily in partnership with others. As a Department, we provide funding to the advice sector, predominantly Advice NI and Citizens Advice, through our voluntary and community unit. We also support a number of community groups through our urban regeneration group, which also undertakes advice work. So there is an opportunity for individuals to contact experts in the field of benefits to give them support. The outreach officers play a very important role. Having 20 individuals located throughout Northern Ireland and making 5,500 visits is pretty good. We keep that under constant review, but we recognise the merits of the outreach service and look forward to continuing with that.
- 161. **Mr O'Reilly**: This year, given the views of the advice sector, and having talked to the Advice Service Alliance (ASA) on quite a number of occasions, we wanted to give them an opportunity to come forward with ideas about how we could reach pensioners and others who require benefit. That was the purpose of the innovation fund. It was

an opportunity for organisations from the voluntary and community sector to come forward with their ideas and tell us how they would best deliver the service. We run the seven projects that Brian mentioned to see how that works, and we work in partnership with them. If there are new ways to do things, we are quite happy to take those back in and do things differently.

- 162. For every £1 that the agency invests, it gets back £13 for pensioners. We think that that is a reasonably good rate of return on our investment. If we can keep at that level through working in partnership with others, rather than as an isolated organisation, we will stay on top of the problem.
- 163. Mr McLaughlin: I have a question on targeting. You said, Brian, that the outreach team also deals with "others". You mentioned 5,500 visits. Were 5,500 pensioners visited or 5,500 pensioners including others?
- 164. **Mr B Doherty**: Those 5,500 visits were to pensioners and others, but they are all deemed to be vulnerable people who have particular challenges.
- 165. **Mr McLaughlin**: How do those figures break down? Do you have some idea of how many pensioners are being reached?
- 166. Mr B Doherty: I do not have that breakdown, although I would suggest that the significant majority are older people. Historically, outreach officers were known as pension advisers. Over time, their service was slightly broadened because there were other —
- 167. **Mr McLaughlin**: You really do not have any information on whether the figure would be 80%, 90%, or whatever?
- 168. **Mr B Doherty**: I can provide that information, but I do not have it to hand.
- 169. Mr McLaughlin: You do have it, though?
- 170. Mr B Doherty: Yes.
- 171. **Mr McLaughlin**: I would not mind getting a breakdown of the 5,500 visits.

- 172. Dr McPeake: We are engaged in that work in a couple of other areas that may be relevant to the Committee. First, we run the warm homes scheme on behalf of the Department. Part of the scheme targets vulnerable people in the private sector, principally homeowners, but also tenants in the private rented sector. As well as arranging physical works on people's properties and providing advice, our two agents, the Housing Executive and the Bryson Charitable Group, carry out benefit entitlement checks for applicants. They currently carry out about 10,000 such checks a year. About 40% of applicants are elderly people. We find that about 6% of those whom we check through validation work with the Department end up securing extra benefits. So that activity is certainly worth doing.
- 173. In addition, we run a new e-benefits programme for all new Housing Executive tenancies. That provides a benefit entitlement check for those who have never been Housing Executive tenants. We have been doing that since 2008 and rolled out that e-benefits programme on a pilot basis last year to Fold and Apex, two of the major housing associations. We are beginning to see some benefit coming from that.
- 174. One of the panel members mentioned, a moment ago, the importance of changes in someone's life. A lifechanging event may happen. From a benefit point of view, one relevant issue is an individual's getting a new house and moving from one house to another. Another such event is being allocated a tenancy: rent is set and that determines the amount of benefit. We now attend scheme handovers for housing association newbuild schemes. The Housing Executive does not build any more; housing associations do that. When tenants are allocated newbuild housing, Housing Executive benefit specialists attend to provide advice directly on the day. So a number of different things are happening, which, in our experience, help to promote benefit uptake, particularly among the vulnerable.

- 175. Mr McQuillan: I have just a quick question. Earlier, Mr Haire said that for every £1 spent, there is £11 uptake of benefit, whereas Tommy just said that £1 spent is equal to £13 of uptake. Do you really know what the figure is? How do you measure that?
- 176. Mr B Doherty: It is £11.
- 177. **Mr O'Reilly**: My apologies. I thought that it was £13.
- 178. Mr McQuillan: How is it calculated?
- 179. Mr B Doherty: It is the amount that we invest against the amount of additional benefit. We spent around £3 million and the return in benefit was £37 million or £38 million. It is straightforward division.
- 180. **Mr Dallat**: The application of IT has been highly successful in detecting fraud. Why is it not as successful in improving the uptake of benefits by pensioners?
- 181. Mr Haire: Partly, it is because uptake is about people giving us the information and applying to the system. That is the difference. We use IT extensively in this process. As you know, we have used it in changing the state pension, partly through telephony. I have described the process of how people come to start receiving their pension. The state pension and state pension credit are, along with housing benefit, where the big money is. We now have a system whereby, through telephony and our use of technology, applications are received well. We are moving across to ensure that the housing benefit element is captured as well. We are populating the application forms through the use of technology, and, through the use of technology, we hand them over already filled in to both the Housing Executive and LPS. However, it comes back to the basic point: how do you get people to make the call? When circumstances change and people need us, how do we make sure that they contact us? We realise that that is the big challenge, and that is the difference.

- 182. Mr Dallat: We know that there has been a rather unfortunate history of bad contracts, and so on, in the provision of IT. Are your IT systems adequate to meet the needs of your customers?
- 183. Mr O'Reilly: Our two main services are state pension and state pension credits. The state pension system is continually updated. We have recently introduced innovations that allow pensioners to receive their state pension automatically, without necessarily having to fill in a claim form, if they are on a working-age benefit. An automatic transfer makes that much easier for pensioners. We introduced the Pensions Transformation Programme into state pension credit, which moved it to a telephony-based system. We continue to improve all our systems, but they are working very well at the moment. There are no major issues.
- 184. **Mr Dallat**: The independent sector has been very helpful and useful in identifying pensioners who are not getting the proper benefit. One of the best-known systems is Access to Benefits (A2B), which closes this month.
- 185. Mr O'Reilly: Yes.
- 186. **Mr Dallat**: Is that a step in the right direction?
- 187. **Mr O'Reilly**: A2B was an initiative taken forward in conjunction with Atlantic Philanthropies, and it has now come to the end of its funding cycle. A2B provides a benefit calculator to aid the voluntary organisations. Similarly, and prior to that, the Department for Work and Pensions developed a calculator, which we use in the agency and is available from government. A2B played an important role over the past number of years. It is very much a funding issue between it and its main funding organisations.
- 188. **Mr Dallat**: I am not trying to walk the officials into the political arena. That would be terribly unfair. However, at a time of absolute crisis I know that you are bulging at the seams with enquiries about benefits, and so on, it seems crazy that one organisation,

which proved to be successful, is closing down this month while we discuss the uptake of benefits. However, you did not make the decision, so we will not hold you responsible.

- 189. Mr Byrne: Following that general thrust, I note from figure 9 that more than half of pensioners to whom you wrote did not respond at all to your update programme. In other words, they were reluctant to respond. What are you doing to try to reach the 54% of people who did not even respond to the initial letter? Do you follow up a non-response? How is that done?
- 190. Mr B Doherty: Since those figures were produced, Mr Byrne, we have, in fact, had 360,000 what we call "contacts" not necessarily people with older people during our benefit uptake campaigns.
- 191. Mr Byrne: Over four years?
- 192. Mr B Doherty: Since 2005, when we initiated our current approach to increasing benefit uptake. Some of that has been through the Make the Call campaign, whereby people contact us by telephone. However, we have made a number of contacts by letter. We generally have contact details for our customers. We follow those up with a further letter or phone call. As I said earlier, the response rate of our current campaign, which is in partnership with Advice NI, is between 18% and 20%. We issued 25,000 letters, and, subsequently, made a further 8.500 calls to those individuals, and we have more to make. That is proving very beneficial, because we find that some individuals receive a letter, open it and, perhaps, put it to the side without following it through. The call is really a prompt to ask them whether we can pass their information to Advice NI for that organisation to make contact. Therefore, it is not just a matter of making one contact and then forgetting about it. We follow up, and that additional activity has a big return for us.
- 193. **Mr Byrne**: Further to that, when does the pension adviser intervene?

- 194. Mr B Doherty: People can request that an outreach officer make a home visit. There are limitations. We believe that 20 is a sufficient number of pension advisers at present.
- 195. **Mr Byrne**: Are they working at full capacity?
- 196. **Mr B Doherty**: I would suggest that they are working at full capacity.
- 197. **Mr Byrne**: Does that become a limiting factor?
- 198. **Mr B Doherty**: We keep that under review. They have a broader remit now than in the past. As I said earlier, they have undertaken some visits to deliver difficult news to vulnerable people, such as those receiving a letter stating that they have received a very large overpayment. However, if we felt that the outreach service —
- 199. **Mr Byrne**: How many thousand pensioners is each adviser be able to deal with directly each year?
- 200. **Mr B Doherty**: We have located them geographically. The target time within which advisers have to undertake a visit includes travel time and the length of time spent at a house.
- 201. **Mr Byrne**: The simple question is: how many?
- 202. **Mr B Doherty**: How many visits do they undertake?
- 203. **Mr Byrne**: On average, how many pensioners does each adviser deal with each year?
- 204. **Mr B Doherty**: I suggest that, by the end of the year, the 20 outreach officers, probably, should have undertaken about 6,000 visits between them.
- 205. **Mr McLaughlin**: Is the figure of 6,000 nothing to do with the figure of 5,500 that we heard earlier?
- 206. **Mr B Doherty**: It would build on that.
- 207. **Mr McLaughlin**: It refers to the same people?
- 208. Mr B Doherty: Yes.

- 209. **Mr McLaughlin**: The outreach officers' work involves encouraging pensioners and others to take up their entitlements. However, the figure of 5,500 includes others, and I am not quite sure who those others are. It also includes people who have been given notice or advised that they have received overpayments, which they have to try to do something about. Therefore, there are three calls on the use of their time.
- 210. Mr B Doherty: On occasion, yes.
- 211. Mr McLaughlin: Let me preface my comments by saying that it is clear, from the individual testimonies that we are hearing, that a dedicated effort is being made to reach the client base here. However, the report demonstrates that we also have to address significant failure. A range of explanations was offered. One explanation that kept coming up is that there is resistance among some of the pensioner cadre that has never been quantified. I do not know whether that means most of that cadre or whether is it a question of age and culture. Mores have changed in recent times, but there is a generation that does not interface comfortably with government. Are we talking 10%, 20%, 30%? Has any effort been made to quantify, even in percentage terms, how many of those people are difficult to reach or convince? Has any survey work or study been done to find out whether we can overcome that resistance?
- 212. **Mr B Doherty**: Yes; we undertook surveys and asked people why they had not engaged with us. I do not have a breakdown because we would take a sample. Probably those who disengage most are those who believe that they have enough and do not require any more.
- 213. The stigma of government is not as prevalent as it was, in large part because of investment in our IT systems, which reduced their complexity. However, benefits as a whole are complex, in trying to marry one benefit with another. Those are probably the cases that feature most. We take those cases and try to design future

programmes to overcome some of the difficulties. For instance, the Make the Call campaign is an attempt to get people to contact government. Having a good advocate, such as Age NI or Claire Keatinge, the Commissioner for Older People, has been tremendously beneficial for us because they see that as something that an older person's advocate is endorsing.

- 214. **Mr McLaughlin**: There is a clear message from the case studies on pages 33–5, because there are good examples of follow-up work and further investigation establishing that there is more entitlement than was, perhaps, understood. Some repayments were significant, with four-figure sums on occasion, although the average may be much lower. However, that gives an indication of the impact on those pensioners' lives up to that point because they had been doing without that money.
- 215. I was interested in the Access to Benefits scheme that John mentioned. Whatever its present or future configuration, it mapped out a useful tool that could be used by the voluntary sector as well as the statutory sector. One case history in the report concerns an advice worker spending five hours filling in seven different application forms. You can imagine that that may be the biggest chill factor for individuals without such expert support, apart from the stigma of government. The techniques now being deployed in the web-based approach to populate application forms would make a major impact on any individual thinking of revisiting that experience.
- 216. I am suggesting that we could develop a single tool through a web-based approach, whether that means the statutory agencies sending out their advisers, the independent advice sector or, if it comes to it, family members or clergy. We are all singing off the same hymn sheet: populate the forms, use the same data information, take responsibility at the centre and at the interdepartmental group to make sure that it is always up to date. However,

it is an authoritative document that calculates entitlement and can address the issue.

- 217. We cannot live with the failure rate. Although I generously acknowledge the efforts, they are somewhat ad hoc, and I want to know how many pensioners are resistant to being approached and what is being done about that identified problem. I want to know how many pensioners think that they are getting enough. Do they think that because their lifestyle is comfortable, or because they happen to be in a particular historical cultural loop that is stoical and accepts our failure to reach them in an adequate fashion?
- 218. When we read those case histories, we cannot be complacent or satisfied about them, although we acknowledge that people are working very hard and achieving results. However, we will be a long time in eliminating or eradicating the problem.
- 219. **Mr Haire**: We share your point of view. That is where the strategy that we are trying to put together comes in. As I demonstrated, we already have a benefit calculator in our system, which is core to our work. How can we use that process? I described some of the ways in which we use telephony and data across our system to try to populate forms and structures. In that respect, we are learning. How do we improve the technology, the forms, applications, higher processes and data knowledge, and connect that to the outreach work? We can do a lot of work in that way. People are resistant to some telephony, but a fair amount of the population uses IT and telephony with us very successfully. It is not working for everyone, so how do we ensure that all our people are working in a co-ordinated way across all our needs to improve that? How are we working with the advice sector that we fund? Perhaps a GP will see that someone needs carers. How do we ensure that all the trusted third parties are playing into the system in a coherent way? That is the task. We want to fit all that together as coherently as possible.
- 220. Mr O'Reilly: It is fair to say that, as we move forward over the next couple of years, some of the major benefits will become much more closely integrated. Housing benefit will disappear and become part of state pension credit. That simplifies the issue and reduces two forms to one. We will then move forward to a single tier, and it will all collapse down. The biggest issues will arise over some of the other benefits that pensioners need to access and in which there are serious issues. We all acknowledge that the 49-page DLA application form is a traumatic experience for pensioners. That will take a long time to resolve. For the vast majority of benefits, we should continue the strategy of simplification and trying to ensure that one form can carry out a number of tasks for us.
- 221. **Mr B Doherty**: An analysis of the case studies shows that, although it is appalling that people are not getting their full benefit entitlement, four of the six case studies were contacted as a result of our benefit uptake work. That is how those case studies came about. That suggests to me that we are targeting and contacting those in need.
- 222. **Mr McLaughlin**: Is the inter-agency approach reducing the number of times that an individual pensioner or pensioner couple has to go through the process of application and validation assessment? When they engage with the system, is it a one-stop shop, or is it an experience that they have to repeat as they deal with rate relief, housing benefit, and so on? Housing benefit and rate relief are linked, but other benefits are not.
- 223. **Mr O'Reilly**: We are getting much better at it, so that as a case —
- 224. **Mr McLaughlin**: Does that mean that they are integrated?
- 225. **Mr O'Reilly**: I think that they are. There are still inadequacies in the system, but it is a work in progress. Certainly, if a client is applying for state pension credit, the state pension credit adviser will take that claim and then start to fill in the forms for housing benefit and lone

pensioners' rate relief while he or she is on the phone. We are trying to make it a one-stop process, but then we have to hand over to the other organisations.

- 226. **Dr McPeake**: In such cases, the partially completed records come to us electronically. It is not as though someone puts them in the post and there is the risk of a disconnect. The records come to us instantaneously. Housing benefit will then contact the applicant, who does not have to give the same information twice, but only the additional elements that are required for the necessary housing benefit calculation.
- 227. At present, through our system, an applicant takes 30 minutes on average to complete a form for housing benefit by phone. It is faster by phone than it is in person. We deal with 156,000 phone calls a year in relation to housing benefit at the service centres or at the district offices. District offices still provide support to applicants.
- 228. **Mr McLaughlin**: That is an interesting statistic. I want to reduce that down to an individual contract. We are talking about an elderly person, who is possibly confined to his or her home. How long will that person be on the phone?
- 229. **Dr McPeake**: On average, it is 30 minutes. I do not know what the range is, but more complex cases might take longer.
- 230. Mr McLaughlin: I imagine that some would take longer. I also imagine that it would be stressful for an older person. We need to reduce that interface to the max, which might mean that there are protocols that allow people to represent the other agencies that have a direct interest and that the person knows what they are doing, if it does come to a webbased approach. For instance, clients will need to know that they can plug it into a television so that they can see what is happening on the screen and be talked through it in steps. The telephone is fine for some people, but I think that it is very confusing for many in that

cohort of our community. It simply adds to the confusion and, perhaps, the fear.

- 231. Dr McPeake: We offer the full range.
- 232. Mr McLaughlin: I know.
- 233. **Dr McPeake**: Some people can fill a form out electronically; some can do it over the phone.
- 234. **Mr McLaughlin**: That might be interpreted as frustration in that those people have to go through it again with somebody else. That is how it is understood, is it not?
- 235. **Dr McPeake**: I think that your point about the web is very important. There has been a significant growth in activity on our website. Our housing benefit section is one of the busiest parts of the website. It has a Northern Irelandbased housing benefit calculator.
- 236. **Mr McLaughlin**: Will or Tommy will probably be able to help me with this issue. What is the single key piece of data that allows you to identify every pensioner, as a starting point?
- 237. **Mr O'Reilly**: Their national insurance number.
- 238. **Mr McLaughlin**: That is what I thought. If that triggers this kind of inter-agency response, we could probably address the chill factor effectively. You might meet resistance. You explained that you work with everybody: GPs; the clergy; the family connection; and local community workers. There are many ways in which we can reach people who do not want to talk to someone from the Department for Social Development. Some people might say that they do not want to talk to Will Haire. Nothing personal, as you know.
- 239. Mr Dallat: You had to add that.
- 240. **Mr McLaughlin**: I had to throw it in. People are worried in case they have made a mistake. They are getting their benefits, but they might not be getting enough, and they are worried that there has been a mistake and that somebody will figure it out and they will get less. Those are the issues that prevent

people from engaging. They might want to talk to their family, and say, "Don't say anything more about that." They might want to talk to someone whom they regard as being more of the community than of government to help them step through the issues. There will still be gaps, but I am looking at a very resilient statistic. I think that a lot of people are missing out, and we have not yet figured out how to deal with them, despite what I think is some brilliant work that we have heard about this afternoon.

- 241. Mr Copeland: I have a supplementary question based on what Mitchel said and harking back to Joe. Apologies, Brian, but you talked about the advisers who go out to speak to people to appraise them for potential benefits. Do they handle the entire case from cradle to grave? If there are 20 advisers with 6,000 cases over a year, that works out at about one and a half cases a day. It is not massive. If it is a matter of somebody getting into a car, driving out to a house, getting the data, driving back and processing it, I wonder whether it might be better to split it into having one person processing the data and somebody else getting it. Perhaps I am wrong. I do not want to be unkind to your staff, because, in the past, they have been superb. Frequently, I get people's benefits assessed via e-mail and, invariably, they all migrate upwards. I thank you for that. One and a half cases a day does not seem a lot.
- 242. Mr B Doherty: That situation is constantly under review. However, the conservation that an outreach officer has with an individual is not solely about social security benefits; it is about anything to which that individual is entitled. That range may include blue badges or anything to do with transport. I have accompanied outreach officers, and I think that the older population likes to chat with us and have us stay for a cup of tea, so we do not run off. There is also the travel factor, and there are differences in approaches between individual officers, depending on where the heaviest caseload is. Particularly for pension credit, a telephony-based

service links into the system. A signature is not needed. It is all done over the phone. All the evidence is recorded. When an outreach officer is with someone, he or she will fill out a form; an outreach officer will not necessarily telephone on behalf of an individual.

- 243. **Mr Copeland**: Are the informationgathering and processing operations carried out by one person, as opposed to someone being responsible for data collection and another for processing?
- 244. **Mr B Doherty:** It is gathered by an outreach officer and then passed to the processing teams. Outreach officers know what people are entitled to, but, with the technology, the information must be uploaded onto a system.
- 245. **Mr Copeland**: Is the form filled in on paper or do outreach officers have a laptop on which to do it there and then?
- 246. **Mr B Doherty**: It is done on paper. We do not have secure laptops that allow us to interface with the system.
- 247. **Mr Copeland**: Is that worth considering as a way of having a single data entry point?
- 248. **Mr B Doherty**: I cannot sit here and say that we are absolutely looking at that, but as the technology develops and security becomes stronger, we would want to be able to do that when we are out with people. The systems, the technology and what sits behind them are extremely complex.
- 249. **Mr Copeland**: I understand that. However, consultant surgeons and doctors can do it. Then, one and a half people a day just does not seem many.
- 250. **Mr McLaughlin**: Or if you are a lawyer, you get charged £150 for seven minutes.
- 251. **Mr Copeland**: It is worse than that. I do not think that you would not get one as cheap as that.
- 252. **Mr Girvan**: I thank the panel for coming. I want to come in on the report's reference to consultants, engaged in

2008, recommending that the Social Security Agency develop a three-year programme. My question touches on many that have already been asked, but the report states that such a programme:

"would target 30,000 clients a year, focusing on vulnerable client groups and on those benefits with low uptake rates."

- 253. Unfortunately, we are dealing with the elderly, many of whom think that their pension is all that they are entitled to. Many such vulnerable people may not have family support, so there is the big issue of their not always being led through the scheme.
- 254. John Dallat made a pertinent point that in this modern age, all things are supposed to communicate with each other, and we have the electronic transfer of information and data sharing between agencies and Departments. The fact is that, even if people are aware that a person is eligible for more, people in a position to do so do not always ask clients whether they are aware that they are eligible for this, that or the other. Does your equipment show that up? Will you outline what you have done in response to the 2008 recommendations?
- 255. **Mr B Doherty**: May I clarify the particular paragraph?
- 256. Mr Girvan: Paragraph 3.20.
- 257. Mr B Doherty: Under pension transformation, which is a change to the IT systems, when a contact is made for us on behalf of somebody who is claiming, for instance, state pension but has not automatically gone from one benefit to another, the system is designed to direct people to another question, based on the answer to a previous question. For example, if someone qualifies for £90 a week on state pension, that is below the threshold that people are allowed to receive. The system will certainly ask questions, such as whether people have any other income or savings, and it will start to drive them towards, maybe, state pension credit. If it transpires

that you are entitled to state pension credit, the same individual will take you through the process there and then. That will also drive you towards other questions on housing benefit and rate relief. There is a set of questions and prompts for those who take the claim that is designed to tease out what other benefits a customer would be entitled to.

- 258. The IT system is continually under development by our colleagues in the Department for Work and Pensions. We have some work to do to link those systems up further, or we would probably not need to undertaken benefit uptake in the way that we do. However, we have made significant inroads in the transformation and utilisation of those IT systems. Tommy mentioned some of the changes that may come further down the line, and a £140 pension has been mentioned in the media. We continually look at the systems to try to make them more user-friendly for staff and customers and to ensure that the journey is relatively short. John mentioned that it takes 30 minutes on average to make a housing benefit application. For a state pension credit application, the average is 11 minutes.
- 259. **Mr Girvan**: I appreciate that aspect. The consultants' report recommended that you should contact 30,000 people each year. You said that you have managed to contact only 6,000 people each year. Was it expected that your staff would contact those 30,000 people directly, or are you relying greatly on the independent sector to take that up?
- 260. **Mr B Doherty**: No. We contacted over 18,000 people during 2010-11, and we contacted a further 25,000 this year through the project that we are running in partnership with Advice NI. The Make the Call campaign has also generated around 13,000 calls to date.
- 261. That takes us back to the different routes that we would encourage people to use to engage with us and to determine what their benefit uptake should be. This year, we have four strands to that: the 25,000 contacts

that will be delivered on our behalf by Advice NI: some geographically based outreach or promotional activity through leaflets or posters in GP surgeries to make people aware of what their uptake should be; the Make the Call campaign; and the innovation fund for increasing benefit uptake. Tommy mentioned that the innovation fund has seven projects, two of which deal with older people. I will take a little bit of liberty here. We went out with a relatively blank sheet of paper on the innovation fund and invited proposals from organisations. Therefore, we thought that it was interesting that, of all the proposals that were brought forward and of the seven that were taken forward, only two deal with older people. That suggests to us that the advice sector feels that we are making good inroads into our targeting and are ensuring that older people receive their benefit uptake.

- 262. Of the two projects that deal with older people, one is being taken forward by Disability Action in conjunction with the Oaklee Housing Association and involves it working in folds. When someone moves from his or her home to a fold, it is a life-changing event, and that project is trying to find out what potential benefits they may be entitled to. The second project involves a relatively new approach for us, in that it is being carried out through a community group in north Belfast rather than some of the big advice sector organisations. That group is almost going door to door to target older people, and, through it, we are trying to find out whether a friendly face from a community group can generate some interest.
- 263. We are also doing a third project in partnership with Macmillan Cancer Support and are going into hospitals to offer advice to those who have been diagnosed with cancer. That diagnosis is also a life-changing event, and benefits are probably the last thing on those patients' minds at that very difficult time. There are probably some older people among that group, and the project will allow us to check all the benefits to which they would be entitled

and start them on the journey. Many of the customers with whom we have engaged through that project will have never engaged with us before. They have been working and have never had to use the benefit system previously, and to do so can be quite daunting. However, we are putting advisers into a number of hospitals to help them.

- 264. Mr Girvan: You said that only two projects are aimed at older people. Some of the elderly in our society will never have complained or have been vocal in making their point. If you target certain people, you will get the same message from a small number all the time. However, the elderly are a section of the community that sit at home and are not being pushed to get their stories out. I welcome attempts by organisations that are trying to do that, such as Age NI and like-minded people who are trying to champion and promote their cause. You have a duty to realise that there is a problem. You do not have to wait until you are told about it. We know that there is a problem. We know that many in the community are not accessing benefits to which they are entitled. Even if they do not want to take it up, a mechanism should be in place to assess people's entitlement, allow them to avail themselves of it and make it accessible to them, without having to go through a bureaucratic process. I appreciate that welfare reform, which is on the way, may streamline aspects of how such issues are dealt with. However, if we know that people are not getting certain benefits, it is difficult to understand why we cannot create a process to provide them, without all the red tape.
- 265. **Mr O'Reilly**: We are trying to test the hypothesis that there are large numbers of people. We are investigating our data and using academics to improve our understanding of it. However, given the experience and interventions of local community groups and those in the local voluntary and community sector, we want to test what they think is the best way of doing it. That is what the innovation fund is for. If we are not doing it right

and someone else knows how to do it, we want to learn from them and work in partnership. We are trying to do that with the innovation fund.

- 266. Mr Girvan: The report states that staff should have "appropriate training in benefit advice". That seems peculiar, since they are working in that agency. Is it not safe to say that staff should have training in all aspects of benefits, not just one sector in which they are involved but in the gamut of available benefits? Working closely, as I do, with Citizens Advice and Advice NI, I know that they train their staff to have good knowledge of all benefits. If they do not know enough about a benefit, someone in their group will support them with backup information. Those groups need to be supported as much as possible. Does the report's recommendation regarding your staff highlight the fact that there was a lack of training to cover the range of benefits available?
- 267. **Mr O'Reilly**: That is a fair point; there was a lack of training. Until a certain point, there was a lack of training in housing benefit and rate relief that was highlighted by the recommendation, which we have implemented. All our advisers and staff involved in state pension credit can now complete that documentation, where previously there was a gap.
- 268. **Mr Girvan**: Did the training cover all your staff?
- 269. **Mr O'Reilly**: Yes, all the staff who interface with pensioners.
- 270. **Mr Girvan**: I may be approaching the issue from a different angle. I know that there are staff who are supposed to interface with pensioners. However, when pensioners phone someone in a benefits office to check something out, they do not necessarily get the right advice. The person whom they get through to will try to deal with their problem, but their role may not be to deal only with the elderly. Therefore, they will not have and cannot give the caller full advice. However, that pensioner will come off the phone in the belief that the

issue has been dealt with and that he or she is not entitled to anything more. I know that that has happened and is ongoing. The mechanism for getting information out must be improved. To start with, the phone numbers are confusing as callers are passed through the system to get to the person to whom they need to talk. The direct line must be to an adviser for the elderly. In many cases, that seems to be missed when an individual gets through to a local office.

- 271. Mr B Doherty: We invest heavily in training, but, by and large, it is benefit specific. I have met individuals in organisations such as Citizens Advice and Advice NI. They build up a good general knowledge of the breadth of benefits to which people may be entitled. Our outreach officers have the same breadth of knowledge. However, I talked about our IT systems, specifically for state pension credit and state pension, which directs staff to what someone may be entitled to. There is a warm hand-off in those situations, but unfortunately we have systems that do not necessarily talk to one another. The IT and payments that we use have been built up over many years, and making those systems operate more closely is a challenges that we face in our work with DWP colleagues. We train people in order to make sure that the core, or first, benefit that someone gets is in place. From that, we have a conversation with individuals about what else they might be entitled to, such as attendance allowance and carers allowance, which are qualifying benefits.
- 272. I agree that the utopian situation would be to have a person who could do everything. However, we do not have a large Northern Ireland-based approach to processing, and that, by necessity, we are in different centres and are benefit-specific. The way that we try to overcome this is to have warm handoffs in the organisation and with our partners. It is not a matter of having to start all over again each time. There is core data on a system and, as I said, that is passed on for attendance

allowance or carers allowance. We struggle a bit with that, but we are getting a lot better at it.

- 273. **Mr Girvan**: I am glad to hear that you are getting better at it. However, pensions have been paid, people have been in receipt of housing benefit and the system has been in operation for a number of years. We had a report highlighting the problem and trying to address it, but it took a number of years to get to that stage. I find that difficult to understand. The frustration is there and we can see where the problems are, so why do we keep trying to reinvent the wheel? The problems should have been filtered out long before we had this issue.
- 274. Retirement age and when people retire are known. There is bound to be a database containing all the information needed about when people will be brought on to benefits and start receiving their pensions. It is not rocket science. Northern Ireland is a relatively small country. We may have to deal with people who have come over from England and elsewhere to retire here, but the majority will have been born and reared here and will have worked, lived and retired here. We are dealing with 1.7 million people. Why can we not get it right? If a business in the private sector were dealing with these issues, it would put a system in place right away to deal with them.
- 275. **Mr Haire**: The challenge is that we have to run our systems off the DWP systems. When answering Mr Dallat's questions, we talked about some of the problems with IT systems. Indeed, the complexity of government contracts for IT systems is an issue that the Committee has dealt with.
- 276. To be fair to DWP, it has quite a strong record. It has strong ability and does deliver. However, some of the systems are legacy systems, they are old and complex, and that is the reason for the big change to universal credit. We have to work within those structures. On the other hand, we administer housing benefit and other benefits differently.

Therefore, inevitably, we are in a time when the technology is not in our control.

- 277. However, things are changing in the right way. We are using telephony and other systems, and we are trying to innovate around the technology that is available elsewhere to make sure that we do those things well. Indeed, we have described why we have used telephony on state pensions. We are pushing that to the maximum. We feel that we will move towards a situation in which DWP's technology will improve and will answer the points that you have made, and we are keen to make our organisational structures are as strong as possible. This has been an issue for the past eight years. We have been pushing forward in this area. We have also been learning, and we readily admit that this is a learning process.
- 278. Going back to the basic point, none of us around this table knows exactly the size of the problem and we have no data that can give us the answer. That is frustrating. We have been pushing as hard as we can to try to improve the systems. We recognise that, although we are caught in DWP's structures and technologies, we can improve the system through better organisation. As a result of that, the journey can be pushed further forward in the next year or so.
- 279. We commissioned the independent review because of our concerns. We implemented that review and took the best advice that we could to push that forward, and we will continue to do that.
- 280. **Mr Girvan**: I welcome the good work that is ongoing. That is an improvement and we want you to keep moving forward. Thank you.
- 281. Mr Byrne: Paragraph 3.27 states:

"Feedback from the Independent Advisory Sector suggests that there may be scope to improve the Uptake Programmes. Some Independent Advisory Sector organisations considered that the current approach was not sufficiently mainstream but simply a range of pilot exercises producing short bursts of uptake activity."

- 282. I am trying to get at the culture of the organisation in relation to how people who phone in with gueries are treated. It seems to me that people can make more headway with officials if they are experts who work in the independent advisory sector. However, the ordinary Joe Bloggs citizens and pensioners who phone in are not fully confident about asking questions and are very often fobbed off and left to their own devices. Unless they have access to the independent advice sector, they very often fall through the net. Would you like to comment on that, Will?
- 283. Mr Haire: I did not read the report in exactly that same way. The independent advisory group and the four commentators said that there were understandable concerns about longerterm contracting for some projects. That was an issue the last time I was in front of this Committee, when we talked about the problems for the independent advice sector. It is a real issue, as you will appreciate.
- 284. As an Assembly, you do not put this on us as a mandatory requirement. Rightly, you put a lot of other things on us that you require us to do. We have had an issue whereby we have had to do this on yearly budget processes, so we have had to go on just one-year contracts, as it were. Also, frankly, we have been trying to use those one-year contracts to investigate the best way forward. Therefore, it has been frustrating for the voluntary sector in that they have not had longer-term contracts. We recognise that that is an issue that we have to see addressed when we decide exactly the best way to do that.
- 285. **Mr Byrne**: Do you agree that the NIAO report has been signed-off by the NIAO, the independent sector and your Department?
- 286. **Mr Haire**: The NIAO makes the point that it does not make any comments in relation to the independent sector. Those are what the independent sector told them and we recognise that that is what the independent sector told them, so we are —

- 287. **Mr Byrne**: NIAO reports are agreed by all participants.
- 288. **Mr Haire**: I think the report indicates that this is not an agreed report in that sense. Maybe it is for the Comptroller to speak about it. However, they made very clear that they did not ask us to sign up. We totally accept that the report represents what the sector feels about those issues. Some sections are extremely positive about the relationship and issues. There is a variety of views in the sector.
- 289. The theme to be taken from the report is they want a longer-term strategy. We recognise that. They think they want more innovation in the processes, and Tommy relayed to you why that was one reason he and the team said: "Right, let's get an innovation fund." We got some Atlantic Philanthropies money to make it even bigger and we said to the sector: "Right, please tell us how you would innovate?" We have got that experience that work and innovation for this year and we will draw that into the next stage.
- 290. We have also really started drawing that group much more into the strategic planning of this work. They are heavily involved in the revived interdepartmental group. I think some of them have been to every meeting of that group to discuss those issues, and that is our commitment to them. A good and much better connectedness has developed with that sector in recent years.
- 291. Going back to your point about whether the agency takes a different view with someone ringing from the independent sector compared with what you described as ordinary Joe Public. I did not pick that up in the document.
- 292. **Mr O'Reilly**: I do not think that we find that to be the case. The Department funds the advice sector to fulfil a function in supporting people and we welcome that. However, if we can shortcut an individual contacting the agency by completing a form online or on the telephone, that speeds the whole process up. We will make sure that

our systems signpost people to their additional benefit.

- 293. **Mr Byrne**: OK. Maybe I am misunderstanding it, Chairman. That is OK. Thanks.
- 294. **Mr Copeland**: Paragraph 3.28 lists nine actions that the Social Security Agency has to put in place to relieve or address the difficulty. It goes on to state that those measures should improve the situation. The phraseology is aspirational. As far as I can see, at the time the document was introduced, there was no evaluation of the impact of those measures. Why did you not evaluate the recommended steps? Have you done so at this stage?
- 295. I was also fascinated, which does not happen to me very often, by the fact that, in 2009, these checks apparently identified under-payment adjustments of around £17⋅6 million in pensioner benefits. Of that amount, 99% related to official error, which seems high.
- 296. **Mr O'Reilly**: There is no question that, when we established the state pension credit system as part of the response to the new benefit and as part of service delivery, the information that went into the system was not fully validated in the way that it should have been. That is where the error arose. We have spent nearly five years systematically checking that. That is where the error related to. That work is complete, and we are now
- 297. **Mr Copeland**: Sorry, were the nine measures put in place evaluated?
- 298. **Mr Haire**: I have given you the broad evaluation, including the famous £11 figure. The challenge is how to evaluate any one of those without evaluating them all. I am not sure that you ever could. The broad value-for-money evaluation that has taken place is fairly relevant here.
- 299. **Mr Copeland**: It strikes me that, in essence, we have a communications problem. We have a specific elderly group, who were born before the information technology age. They had

telephones, but those were generally in red boxes on street corners. They approach retirement, a life-changing event at 65 or whatever the pension age.

- 300. I believe that you have a window of about three months before, during and after retirement when intervention through traditional forms of communication may bring benefits. For example, two of the nine points to which I referred are based on information technology such as the use of computers and online services. I know that there are silver surfers, but I am not sure how many of the target group that we are talking about have bought into that. We are discussing people on the edge, for want of a better word, who, in some cases, find themselves going from paid employment to a completely different lifestyle. I think that you should have a window in and around that retirement age ----
- 301. **Mr B Doherty**: We have tried to take those nine recommendations to help shape future delivery. For example, the benefit calculator is for all benefits, not specifically for older people.
- 302. **Mr Copeland**: I am aware of that. I use it frequently.
- 303. Mr B Doherty: We have implemented all of those measures. For instance, the take-up of state pension credit in Northern Ireland compared to elsewhere in the UK is quite successful. I think that take-up is 26% or 27% here, compared to 19% in the rest of the UK. You can read into that that we are successful and that we have more people who rely on state pension credit as an intervention. The measures are continually under review, and the programmes that we have undertaken over the past years are designed, first, to make sure that we reach people.
- 304. As Will said, we may know the percentage that we are not reaching, but it is a case of identifying an individual and a household. That is achieved by using the technology, outreach or the other methodologies that we have and with which people are most comfortable.

I agree that the current cadre of older people comprises those who are not knowledgeable about or great users of the internet. However, as time goes on, we will find that more of our older people will use IT, or their families will use it on their behalf, as an easier route to contact us than directly by phone.

- 305. Mr Haire: We are getting better at this at the point at which people retire. That is key. You are right to say that the difficulty is that there is a communication problem, particularly as people's lives change. A recent Joseph Rowntree Foundation report states that, in wider terms, people of pensionable age have much better control. In global terms, poverty issues have been addressed more as part of that process. The Rowntree report argues that there should be a greater focus on the 55 to 64 age band. As people have to work longer into that time, and as pensions are pushed back, that is the group that we probably have to think about. For all of us, as well as the pension report, which is very crucial, that is an important wake-up call. We must not just think of 65 as the issue; as we move forward and processes and employment opportunities change, the 55 to 64 group is the crucial one. We must take a wider view of that as well. There may be an emerging group coming in at that level as well.
- 306. **Mr Copeland**: On a slightly different issue, I remember filling in a housing benefit form some years ago and wondering what possible connection there might be between housing benefit and being a beneficiary of a far-eastern, prisoner-of-war scheme. Only two days later, I had someone come into my office who fitted perfectly within that category. That was an education for me.
- 307. Paragraph 3.34 notes that the success of the pensions transformation programme was to be accessed before the end of 2011. Did that assessment take place? What did it tell you about the costs and benefits of the programme?

- 308. Mr O'Reilly: It told us that we had successfully implemented pension transformation. We had reduced the target time from 12 to 11 days. It showed us that current performance is now about 8.83 days. It showed us that all our other objectives for costs and timing were fully implemented. So the post-project evaluation was completed successfully.
- 309. **Mr Copeland**: It showed you that it worked?
- 310. **Mr O'Reilly**: Yes, but it continues to be a work in progress.
- 311. **Mr Copeland**: That is very pleasant news.
- 312. Mr O'Reilly: Yes. It did actually work.
- 313. Mr Dallat: I want to pick up on what Paul said earlier. We have the report today, and we have been discussing it now for two and a half hours. I think it is allowable for us to take just a second or two to express appreciation to your staff throughout Northern Ireland. They are incredibly good people. I wish every Department had the same kind of vocation and showed the same sympathy for the people that it deals with. That is my experience and that is what my staff tell me. I do not doubt it. When I am in the office, it is exactly the same. Everything that you have told us about, and that we have questioned you on, is very much appreciated.
- 314. You said that you had no statutory obligation to do some of this. Please do not underestimate that. I think that it is important to say it at this time because your staff have been through an awful lot of upheaval. They have been uprooted and sent to different places to streamline the service in the interest of the customers, and that is working, as far as I can see. However, it has not been without personal sacrifice on the part of the staff. I know that some of those transitions are still taking place and I hope that, on every occasion, the Department will show sympathy to those people who are very often doubling-up as carers and who simply cannot get on a train in Coleraine and

arrive in Bangor or somewhere like that. I know that the numbers are small, but individuals are affected by that. However, I cannot emphasise enough, and I am probably the longest-serving member of the Committee, that over the years the changes have been tremendous.

- 315. I have to ask you a question. Paragraph 4.4 states that various independentsector advisers have made suggestions for improving benefit uptake. The sector is looking at a longer-term approach to the benefit-uptake programme and the better planning of individual campaigns. The report was published in February 2011. How have you addressed that in the meantime?
- 316. Mr Haire: We recognise that there is an issue and that we need to take a longer-term view. We have had two major innovations this year. The first was the innovation fund, through which we asked the sector for ideas and gave it the opportunity to pilot new ideas and ways of doing things. We want to implement those ideas and evaluate them. The other big innovation was the Make the Call campaign, through which we have tried to use wider media as a background to raise the general awareness of the process. The interesting issue is how we will complement the face-to-face work and the general raising of the issues. Claire Keatinge's appointment as the Commissioner for Older People will be important in that, and we are keen to see how her role will help raise that awareness.
- 317. In the autumn, we hope to start to pull this together. We will work with the sector on the longer-term view, on how we take forward that resource and the right way to do it. That is the basic point.
- 318. **Mr O'Reilly**: We are coming to the end of the three-year strategy and are now looking at a fresh one. In that, we will use an evidence-based approach. We will also involve the sector and seek its views and, based on our experiences, find a way forward through which we can create more stability in the system. We need to have a longer-term view, but

we continue to be effective and move forward.

- 319. **Mr Dallat**: That is extremely welcome, and I am sure that all Committee members will be pleased to hear that.
- 320. Paragraph 4.4 of the report tells us that the sector would like to see an extension of the outreach activities that you talked about today. Will each agency representative explain the sort of outreach activities in which they are involved and whether those activities are done through a joined-up approach? The earlier answer to my question was that the IT systems were OK, but Brian then said that the systems do not talk to one other. I would like you to cover that in your answers to this question.
- 321. Mr O'Reilly: The main IT systems for the state pension, state pension credit, attendance allowance and DLA are national DWP systems and are distinct from the local IT systems that deal with housing benefit and rates. The national digital object identifier (DOI) system is very secure, and it is difficult to have that cross-working. A number of the national DWP systems are also quite old, and, again, we need that investment. However, we are undertaking a replacement programme, and, as a consequence, systems are being upgraded and are becoming more opensourced.
- 322. We are also trying to bring the local systems into a more accredited system, and Northern Ireland IT systems are now accredited under government secure intranet (GSI). That helps with the process, but it is a work in progress.
- 323. **Mr Dallat**: I am sure that the Committee supports and advocates that work and wants to see it continuing. The more that it happens, fewer people will fall through the safety net and more of those who we are thinking about today will be detected. It is important that you continue to invest in those systems. Before you invest, you also need the right consultants. However, that is a different issue.

- 324. **The Chairperson**: Do the two Johns have anything to add from their perspectives?
- 325. **Dr McPeake**: The Housing Executive uses one of the most commonly applied IT systems in the UK for processing housing benefit. The system is called iWorld and was developed by a local firm called Northgate Technologies Limited. The company has supplied the system to most of the major landlords across the UK. It facilitates the exchange of data with other systems, and we use it to exchange data with the Social Security Agency.
- 326. On the outreach side, because we administer benefit to our tenants, we know a lot more about them than those who administer social security benefits generally know about their customers. Our focus is targeted much more at individuals, but we also support our colleagues. For example, in the past 18 months, we have worked on 12 different exercises on lone pensioners with John's people.
- 327. We recognise that, at the time of a new tenancy sign-up, there is a risk that someone may fall through the gaps. Therefore, as I mentioned earlier, we have increased our activities with our colleagues in the housing association sector. Essentially, that is what we are doing on the housing benefit side.
- 328. **Mr Dallat**: I hope that the Housing Executive continues to administer housing benefit. Again, it works well. You can get the information at your fingertips, and relationships with Housing Executive staff have been built up over a long period of time and do work.
- 329. **Mr Wilkinson**: I will give you a couple of examples on the IT side. A few weeks ago, I spent a couple of hours with my team that deals with housing benefit and rate relief. There is a direct linkage to the SSA, so I looked at one claim that had come through the post. The link had to be made with the SSA systems to get the appropriate information that we needed to process that claim. The details of another claim that I looked

at had been taken by colleagues in the SSA. So, that completed application form came straight over the IT systems. Those are just a couple of examples I looked at.

- 330. The outreach events are where staff really are making a difference. I have a team that works out of Queen's Court on that. I spent an afternoon with them earlier this week and looked at some of the work they were doing. It was not about just the leaflets and posters. It was also about attendance at events with colleagues from the Housing Executive, the SSA and the advice sectors. It was also about joining in and partnering at those events.
- 331. The sort of work we have been doing are the 'Young at Heart' events, UN International Day of Older Persons, 'Silver Surfers' and joining in with 'Electric Blanket Testing Day'. An awful lot of work is going on by people who are passionate and proud of the work that they do.
- 332. Mr Dallat: And rightly so.
- 333. **The Chairperson**: We heard about some of the Department's work with the advice sector. Is there anything more you could be doing to make improvements?
- 334. **Mr Haire**: The fact we are drawing the sector in much more to the strategic process is the key element. We will try to agree a way forward with them and work out what role they play. Like everything, we have to work out what we can fund.
- 335. I return to Mr Copeland's point in that so much of this is about communication. We very much recognise that the advice sector has routes into groups and communities that we do not. We would be very foolish not to try to have a partnership that uses their skills in that process. So, we are committed to working in a partnership way with them.
- 336. **The Chairperson**: If every pensioner were to get their maximum benefit uptake, would that eradicate pensioner poverty?

- 337. Mr Haire: No. The figure 2 diagram on page 11 of the report makes clear that 55% of pensioner income is benefits. We hope that we may be able to streamline state pension and get the £140 pension that is being talked about. That would be good but surely the key problem for us all is occupational pensions making up 20% of pensioner income. Those are still very small in our processes. There is the wider question of longer-term pension issues.
- 338. The state side is really important but we have to deal with the wider issue of people investing for the future. As we will all live longer, we hope, that will be crucial. We can give the full entitlement to many people and they can still be in poverty, with poverty defined at that 60% level. The other key issue for us, and for John McPeake, is fuel poverty. Many pensioners are paying a considerable part of their income on fuel.
- 339. We must try to get many of those pensioners into the right housing stock. We have done a good job at broad level, pushing up housing insulation, and we are committed to continuing with that. However, unless we get a better mix so that, especially, single pensioners are in smaller accommodation, we will not tackle the issue.
- 340. That issue requires not only more contribution from employers and people's own investment in pensions but requires us to get all the acts together. However, a lot of those issues are also housing-related. We have to look at the matter in a holistic way. That is a really big challenge but it is a core issue. The population is growing, at 300,000, but in the next 40 years it will be up to 420,000 at least. So, that is a big group for us.
- 341. **The Chairperson**: I asked that question because a considerable amount of benefits are not being taken up by pensioners. It is not coming out of the Executive's block grant but from Westminster. A considerable amount of money is not being brought in to be spent in the local economy, which is a

massive issue. That money would help to sustain jobs and grow the economy.

- 342. All that can be done has to be done to get that maximum spend. If you spend £1 you get £11 in return. That is good value for money and we need to be seeing much more of that. That would also allow pensioners to live a much more comfortable life with an extra few pounds in the pockets at the end of the day.
- 343. A lot has been covered today, and we will continue. We may forward other questions to you in writing. It is a good report. Thank you for your time today.



## Appendix 3 Correspondence

# Correspondence of 21 February 2012 from Mr Will Haire

5th Floor, Lighthouse Building, 1 Cromac Place, Gasworks Business Park Ormeau Road, Belfast BT7 2JB

> Tel: 02890 829002 Fax: 02890 829560

E-Mail: will.haire@dsdni.gov.uk or perm.sec@dsdni.gov.uk

From: Will Haire cc: Eddie Bradley, NIAO Permanent Secretary

Date: 21 February 2012

- 1. John Mc Ginnity, DFP
- 2. Public Accounts Committee, Clerk

### **NIAO Report - Uptake of Benefit by Pensioners**

In preparation for the Committee hearing on 7 March 2012, please find attached three tables featuring updated information which is now available.

	Title	Report page
Figure 1	Percentage of pensioners living in poverty	Page 9
Figure 4	Main Benefit available to Pensioners	Page 17
Figure 7	Pensioner Groups targeted in SSA benefit Uptake Programmes	Page 30

I hope this is helpful

wiferi

Will Haire

## Annex A

Figure 1: Percentage of Pensioners living in	n poverty (After Housing Costs)
--	---------------------------------

Local Government District (3-year average)	2006-07 to 2008-09	2007-08 to 2009-10
Banbridge	50	38
Ballymena	32	27
Fermanagh	29	25
Limavady <sup>1</sup>	29	29
Newry & Mourne	29	21
Larne & Moyle <sup>2</sup>	29	30
Craigavon	27	22
Carrickfergus	24	30
North Down	22	16
Belfast	21	24
Cookstown & Magherafelt <sup>2</sup>	21	19
Omagh & Strabane <sup>2</sup>	21	25
Ballymoney	20	24
Castlereagh	20	18
Antrim	19	17
Ards	19	15
Dungannon	19	32
Newtownabbey	19	20
Lisburn	16	22
Coleraine	14	19
Derry	14	13
Armagh	12	7
Downpatrick	12	9
Northern Ireland	23	19

## Figure 4: Main benefits available to pensioners – updated figures

Paying Authority	Benefit Name	Description of Benefit	Expenditure 2010 -11 £'000
SSA	State Pension	A regular payment which can be claimed by those who reach state pension age and who have paid, or have been credited with, enough National Insurance Contributions. The standard rate for a single person for 2010-11 is £102.15	1,665,265
SSA	State Pension Credit	A means-tested benefit available in two parts as follows: Guarantee Credit – ensures those who reach the qualifying age receive a minimum weekly income; and/or Savings Credit – provides an extra amount to reward those who reach the qualifying age and who have saved for their retirement.	351,996
SSA	Attendance Allowance	A tax-free benefit paid to people aged 65 or over, who need help with their personal care because they have a physical or mental disability. Rates for 2011-12: £73.60 (High) and £49.30 (Low)	Note 1
SSA	Carers' Allowance	A taxable benefit for informal carers who spend at least 35 hours a week caring for someone who is ill or has a disability. The rate paid depends on which other benefits are being paid to the individual. The rate for 2011-12 is £53.10	Note 1
SSA	Disability Living Allowance	A tax-free benefit payable to those aged under 65 who need help with personal care, getting around or both, because of an illness or disability. (Individuals over 65 will not be eligible for this benefit unless they applied and were assessed as entitled in the years prior to their 65th birthday). The rate payable depends on the level of care and mobility needs. Care rates for 2011-12: £73.60 (High); £49.30 (Middle); £19.55 (Low) - Mobility rates for 2011-12 are £ 51.40(High) and £19.55 (Low)	Note 1
SSA	Winter Fuel Payment	An annual automatic tax free payment to people who reach the qualifying age to help with the costs of keeping warm during winter. Rates (per household) for 2011- 12: £200 (born on or before 5 January 1951) and £300 (aged 80 and over before 25 September 2011). A small number of those eligible need to apply if they are not receiving specific social security benefits during the qualifying week.	69,185

Paying Authority	Benefit Name	Description of Benefit	Expenditure 2010 -11 £'000
SSA	Christmas Bonus	A tax free payment of £10 to those in receipt of a qualifying benefit (including State Pension Credit and State Pension) in the week beginning with the first Monday in December. In 2008-09 the Bonus was temporarily increased to £70 (regular bonus of £10 plus an additional payment of £60).	3,430
SSA	Cold Weather Payments	An automatic payment made when the average temperature is or forecast to be 0 degrees centigrade or below for 7 consecutive days. To qualify for the payment a person must be receiving State Pension Credit for at least one day in the period of cold weather. The rate for 2011/12 is £35 for each qualifying week.	16, 813
NIHE	Housing Benefit (People who rent their homes ) Housing Benefit (Owner occupier)	A means-tested benefit available to people on low income responsible for paying rent and /or rates. Pensioners receiving the Guarantee element of State Pension credit are automatically entitled to full Housing Benefit. Pensioners receiving the Savings element of State Pension credit or who don't get State Pension Credit at all may still be entitled to some Housing benefit.	573,300 2010/11 40,149 to Jan 2012
NIHE	Rate Relief (People who rent their homes ) Rate relief (Owner occupier)	A means tested benefit which assists with rate bills for pensioners who are either not eligible or are only partially eligible for Housing Benefit. Pensioners are automatically assessed for rate relief when they are applying for Housing Benefit	2,200 2010/11 3,848 to Jan 2012
NIHE	Lone Pensioner Allowance (People who rent their homes) Lone Pensioner Allowance (Owner Occupier)	Offers a 20 per cent discount on the rates bill for those aged 70 or over who live on their own.	520 2010/11 3885 to Jan 2012
LPS	Disabled persons Allowance (Owner occupier and people who rent their homes).	A reduction available to rates bills for domestic properties to which certain adjustments have been made to meet the needs of a disabled person	Note 1 2,783 to Jan 2012

Note 1: No breakdown was available between pensioners and non-pensioners expenditure for this benefit

Figure 7: Pensioner Groups targeted in SSA Benefit Uptake Programmes

	Numbers targeted	Over 60s targeted	Family	Incapacity Benefit	State Pension Credit	State Pension Credit - Home Owners	Geographical - Disadvantage Areas	State Pension Credit for Single Pensioners	Disability Living Allowance over 60	Disability Living Allowance (Other)	Carers Allowance	Attendance Allowance
2005/06	3746	3746					1,500	746	1,500			
2006/07	20822	19942					3,283	12,041		1,057	795	2,766
2007/08	22454	9586		750			4,978				1,486	2,372
2008/09	24829	18275	11			7,247		7,472				3,545
2009/10	25274	20431	12		8,144						1,782	10,493
2010/11	18973	18034			6,276						1,304	10,454
2011/12	25027	22161			8,126						435	13,600
Total	141,125	112,175	23	750	22,546	7,247	9,761	20,259	1,500	1,057	5,802	43,230

## Chairperson's Letter of 8 March 2012 to Mr Will Haire

Public Accounts Committee Room 371 Parliament Buildings Ballymiscaw Belfast BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208 Fax: (028) 9052 0366 E: pac.committee@niassembly.gov.uk aoibhinn.treanor@niassembly.gov.uk

8 March 2012

Mr Will Haire Permanent Secretary Department for Social Development Lighthouse Building 1 Cromac Place Gasworks Business Park Ormeau Road Belfast BT7 2JB

Dear Will,

#### PAC Evidence Session on 'Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners'

Thank you for your participation in the Committee's evidence session yesterday.

As agreed in the course of your evidence, I would be grateful if you could provide the following information to the Committee.

- 1. Of the 5500 visits undertaken by the Department's outreach team, a breakdown reflecting what proportion of these visits was to pensioners and how many were as a direct result of the 'Make the Call' campaign.
- 2. A breakdown by year summarising the amount of money written off by the Social Security Agency as a result of errors by the agency resulting in overpayments to claimants.
- 3. A summary of the criteria used to determine circumstances in which the hand-delivery of overpayment notifications to claimants is deemed appropriate.
- 4. An overview of the Department's performance in targeting and achieving results for the specific groups of pensioners identified in the C&AG's report (paragraph 1.3) as being particularly vulnerable to poverty.

I would appreciate receipt of this information by 22 March 2012.

Paul Maskey MP Chairperson Public Accounts Committee

## Correspondence of 23 March 2012 from Mr Will Haire

From: The Permanent Secretary

Mr Will Haire Lighthouse Building 1 Cromac Place Gasworks Business Park Ormeau Road Belfast BT7 2JB

Telephone: 028 90 829002 Facsimile: 028 90 829560 E-mail: perm.sec@dsdni.gov.uk

Mr Paul Maskey MLA Chairperson Public Accounts Committee Room 371, Parliament Buildings Stormont Belfast BT4 3XX

23 March 2012

Dear Paul

#### PAC Evidence Session on 'Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners'

Thank you for your letter of 8 March requesting additional information which I agreed to provide during the evidence session on Wednesday 7 March.

My response is set out in line with your questions.

#### 1. Outreach Service – Home Visits

The 5,500 home visits reported at the hearing were figures from February 2011 to January 2012. Figures up to February 2012 are as follows:

- 6, 266 home visits have been carried out to help customers with making a claim since the Northern Ireland Audit report was published in February 2011.
- Of these, 4,945 visits were made to the homes of customers aged 60 and over.

I can confirm that from the start of the business year to the end of February 2012 the Outreach Team has delivered 4,419 home visits, 3,098 of which have been to older people. The Outreach Team, given its expertise and experience, has also been deployed on delivering over 13,000 full benefit entitlement checks (by telephone) in response to the "Make the Call" campaign. Some 301 home visits to older people have been generated from this campaign to date, more are now underway.

#### 2. Official Overpayments of benefits

The breakdown by year for the amount of money written off by the Social Security Agency as a result of Official Error is as follows:

Year	Amount
2008/09	£5,820,666.52
2009/10	£7,873,965.23
2010/11	£6,761,039.43
2011/12	£9,522,462.11 (year to date)

Earlier data is not available. The Debt Manager System for reporting has been in place from 2007.

#### 3. Criteria for hand delivery of overpayments

Generally, overpayment letters are hand delivered in cases where the overpayment exceeds  $\pm 20,000$ . If the amount is between  $\pm 2,500$  and  $\pm 20,000$ , a letter will still be hand delivered where other factors exist that would indicate a need or risk, as below:

- the age of the customer
- in receipt of high rate DLA (which would indicate care needs)
- the customer was recently bereaved (especially if the overpayment is linked to this)
- where evidence is held that a customer is vulnerable due to a specific reason.
- all customers in nursing homes or care facilities, letters are hand delivered regardless of the overpayment amount.

I should point out that these types of cases are treated on a case by case basis and therefore it is difficult to give a definitive list.

#### 4. Targeting and Results

Since 2005, older people have been the main focus of annual Benefit Uptake Programmes and a variety of data filters have been applied to help identify and target those who the Agency believes could be entitled to more. Filters have included age, areas of social / income deprivation and areas of high rates of owner occupancy. Data filters are decided upon in consultation with benefit branches (who can identify patterns of customers who have been entitled to more), community and voluntary partners and best available research at the time.

I attach Annexes detailing performance in relation to:

- each annual Programmes in terms of older people targeted, with numbers provided for those aged 75 or over, and annual benefit and arrears generated (Annex 1)
- an exercise that was carried out in 2006/07 that specifically targeted single, female pensioners. (Annex 2)
- exercises targeted at people living in disadvantaged areas. This filter has been used as part of the targeting mechanisms in three exercises to date. (Annex 3).

I am unable, however, to provide any information about targeting and results for widows without an occupational pension as this is information currently not available within the Department to allow specific targeting. However, it may be that, as a result of using other filters, e.g. receipt of Housing Benefit, that some from these groups would have been included in the Programmes.

As reported to the Committee I believe that we are reaching considerable numbers of customers using a mix of direct targeting and promotional approaches at community and regional levels. There is a growing body of evidence to support the view that many older customers are making decisions, for a number of reasons, not to have a benefit entitlement check or to make a claim, even when potential entitlement has been identified. The Agency

is renewing its efforts to break down these barriers to uptake in partnership with the age, disability and wider advice sectors.

Benefit Uptake activities have generated a total of over £37m in additional benefits and arrears to date, 80% of which has been paid to over 11,000 older people. The Agency has given a commitment to increasing the focus of this work through a longer-term strategy which will be delivered in collaboration across government and in partnership with the third sector.

I hope you find this helpful.

Yours sincerely

wiferi

Will Haire

Report on the	e Uptake o	f Benefits by Pension	ers			
Over 60s annual benefit generated	£977,493.82	£6,324,852.84	£2,814,373.71	£4,571,695.17	£4,684,209.00	£3,638,319.39
Total annual benefit generated	£977,493.82	£6,603,955.76	£6,592,316.63	£5,712,476.78	£6,046,829.11	£3,704,210.03
Benefits	Pension Credit	Attendance Allowance, Carers Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, Pension Credit	Attendance Allowance, Carers Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, Incapacity Benefit, Income Support, Pension Credit	Attendance Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, Pension Credit	Attendance Allowance, Disability Living Allowance, Pension Credit	Attendance Allowance, Carers Allowance, Pension Credit

24.77%

2,374

9,586

22,454

2007/08

N/A

Information not available

3,746

3,746

Percentage

**Over 75s targeted** 

Older people targeted

Customers targeted

**Targeted exercises** 

2005/06

80.22%

15,998

19,942

20,822

2006/07

75 or over
aged
been
l have
ers targeted have been aged
of customers
-
Nearly 60%

£23,010,943.93

£29,637,282.13

58.99%

66,168

112,175

141,125

Totals

Attendance Allowance, Carers Allowance, Pension Credit

87.13%

19,309

22,161

25,027

2011/12

67.30%

12,136

18,034

18,973

20010/11

55.76%

11,392

20,431

25,274

2009/10

27.14%

4,959

18,275

24,829

2008/09

#### **Additional Activities**

Mailshots/ Outreach	Customers targeted	Older people targeted	Total annual benefit generated	Over 60s annual benefit generated
Mailshots	277,294	246,925	£7,692,398.24	£7,453,822.75
Outreach 09/10	279	279	£78,557.99	£78,557.99
Outreach 10/11	636	636	£246,994.40	£246,994.40
Total	278,209	247,840	£8,017,950.63	£7,779,375.14
Combined	419,334	360,015	£37,655,233	£30,790,319

#### Results of the 2006/07 single female exercise are as follows:

Females Exercise	Result
Targeted Clients	12,041
Respondents	4,288
Successful claims	695
Total Weekly Benefit awarded	£49,884.42
Total Arrears	£882,012.45
Annual benefit	£2,593,989.84
Overall benefit generated by exercise	£3,416,002.29

#### **Overall Programme Results**

People contacted by Programme	20,822
Respondents	8,705
Benefit generated by Programme	£6,603,955.76

In terms of the overall Programme, in this exercise alone over 58% of the people targeted were female and nearly 52% of the annual benefit and arrears were generated for this customer group.

Over the years there have been three exercises that have used areas of high deprivation as one of the filters. Two have focused on older customers while one addressed working age. Results for the older customers' exercises are as follows:

	2006/07 - Geographic Exercise	2007/08 – State Pension Credit Exercise
Targeted Clients	3,283	4,978
Respondents	1,837	2,312
Successful claims	310	315
Total Weekly Benefit awarded	£19,155.04	£22,842.02
Total Arrears	£399,106.24	£164,950.19
Annual benefit	£996,062.08	£1,187,785.04
Overall benefit generated by exercise	£1,395,168.32	£1,352,735.23

#### **Overall Programme Results**

People contacted by Programme	20,822	22,454
Respondents	8,705	10,808
Benefit generated by Programme	£6,603,955.76	£6,592,316.63

\* These figures include money estimated to for decision on claims outstanding at the time of reporting.

In the 2006/07 Programme people living in areas of high deprivation represented 16% of the customers targeted, resulting in 21% of the annual benefit and arrears generated. In the 2007/08 Programme it was 22% and 20.6% respectively.

## Correspondence of 30 March 2012 from Mr Will Haire

From: The Permanent Secretary

Mr Will Haire Lighthouse Building 1 Cromac Place Gasworks Business Park Ormeau Road Belfast BT7 2JB

Telephone: 028 90 829002 Facsimile: 028 90 829560 E-mail: perm.sec@dsdni.gov.uk

Mr Paul Maskey MLA Chairperson Public Accounts Committee Room 371, Parliament Buildings Stormont Belfast BT4 3XX

30 March 2012

Dear Paul

#### Uptake of Benefits by Pensioners - PAC Hearing 7 March 2012

Further to my letter of 23 March providing additional information requested by the Committee, please find below a link to the Family Resources Survey, which I promised I would provide during the hearing on 7 March.

Family Resources Survey 2009-2010

If helpful one of the Departments statisticians could provide a walk through of how we use this information.

I hope you find this informative.

wifferit

Will Haire



Appendix 4

List of Witnesses who Gave Oral Evidence to the Committee

# List of Witnesses who Gave Oral Evidence to the Committee

- 1. Mr Will Haire, Accounting Officer, Department for Social Development;
- 2. Mr Tommy O'Reilly, Chief Executive, Social Security Agency;
- 3. Mr Brian Doherty, Director, Social Security Agency;
- 4. Mr John Wilkinson, Chief Executive, Land and Property Services;
- 5. Dr John McPeake, Chief Executive, Northern Ireland Housing Executive;
- 6. Mr Kieran Donnelly, Comptroller and Auditor General; and
- 7. Ms Fiona Hamill, Treasury Officer of Accounts, Department of Finance and Personnel.



Appendix 5

## Other Papers Submitted to the Committee but not Published in the Report

## Other Papers Submitted to the Committee but not Published in the Report

Family Resources Survey Northern Ireland 2009 - 2010

http://www.dsdni.gov.uk/frs0910.pdf



Published by Authority of the Northern Ireland Assembly, Belfast: The Stationery Office

and available from:

Online www.tsoshop.co.uk

#### Mail, Telephone, Fax & E-mail TSO PO Box 29, Norwich, NR3 1GN Telephone orders/General enquiries: 0870 600 5522 Fax orders: 0870 600 5533 E-mail: customer.services@tso.co.uk Textphone 0870 240 3701

#### TSO@Blackwell and other Accredited Agents

£12.50

Printed in Northern Ireland by The Stationery Office Limited © Copyright Northern Ireland Assembly Commission 2012

